# INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY IN SPORTS: A LEGAL ANALYSIS OF BRANDING, SPONSORSHIPS AND TRADEMARK ISSUES

Dissertation to be submitted in partial Fulfillmentfor the requirement of the Degree of LL.M.

Submitted by:

AYUSHI AGRAWAL

Supervised by:

Dr. SHIVANGI SHARMA



# SCHOOL OF LAW GALGOTIAS UNIVERSITY GREATER NOIDA (2023-2024)

# DECLARATION

I, hereby declare that the dissertation entitled— "INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY IN SPORTS: A LEGAL ANALYSIS OF BRANDING, SPONSORSHIPS AND TRADEMARK ISSUES" is based on original research undertaken by me and it has not been submitted in any University for any degree or diploma.

Place:

Date:

Signature of the student Ayushi Agrawal

Enrollment No.23102070001

# CERTIFICATE

This is to certify that the dissertation entitled—"INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY IN SPORTS: A LEGAL ANALYSIS OF BRANDING, SPONSORSHIPS AND TRADEMARK ISSUES" has been prepared by Ayushi Agrawal, pursuing LL.M from School of Law, Galgotias University under mysupervision and guidance. I recommend it for evaluation.

Place:

Date:

Dr. Shivangi Sharma, Professor

Supervisor

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I thank Almighty for guiding me in the right path. This dissertation is the result of the pertinent efforts and contributions of many people around me. I have taken sincere efforts to complete the dissertation, enjoying most of the research works, finding clueless amidst and finally relieved, proud and content to complete it.

First, I would like to thank, Dr. Shivangi Sharma, Professor, School of Law, Galgotias University, for her constant guidance and support. I am deeply indebted for her consistent efforts that she has taken for widening my perception and improving my work.

I would also like to convey my thanks to all the Library Staff and the Technical Staff for their timely assistance to carry out the work. Words fall short to express my love and gratitude to my parents, friends, family members and all my well wishers who supported me throughout this course.

Ayushi Agrawal

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BCCI	Board of Control for Cricket in India	
CAS	Court of Arbitration for Sport	
EU	European Union	
FIFA	International Federation of Association	
	Football	
FTC	Federal Trade Commission	
GDPR	General Data Protection Regulation	
ICC	International Cricket Council	
IOC	International Olympic Committee	
IP	Intellectual Property	
IPL	Indian Premier League	
MUFC	Manchester United Fan Club	
NBA	National Basketball Association	
NFL	National Football League	
NSF	National Sports Federation	
NSP	National Sports Policy	
PKL	Pro Kabaddi League	
ROI	Return on investment	
SAI	Sports Authority of India	
USPTO	United States Patent and Trademark Office	
VR	Virtual Reality	
WADA	World Anti-Doping Agency	
WIPO	World Intellectual Property Organization	
WTO	World Trade Organization	

# LIST OF CASES

1.	Barcelona F.C. v. Unlicensed Merchandisers (2020),
	DTP-CORR-JMB-STA
2.	BCCI v. Cricket Association of Bengal, 1995 AIR 1236, 1995
	SCC (2)
3.	Board of Control for Cricket in India v. Netaji Cricket Club
	(2005) 4 SCC 741
4.	Dhoni v. Bata India (2018), WRIT PETITION NO. 5862 OF 2018
5.	Green Bay Packers, Inc. v. The Milwaukee Packers (2010), 272
	Wis. 149
6.	Manchester United F.C. v. Counterfeiters Inc. (2022), UKHL 1,
	[2022] AC 22
7.	MS Dhoni v. Max Mobilink Pvt Ltd, 2014 AIR 1257
8.	New York Yankees v. Unlicensed Merchandisers (2019), No.
	91156780 (T.T.A.B. Aug. 10, 2005)
9.	Real Madrid C.F. v. Madrid Football Club Association (2021),
	(FIFA), CAS 2020/A/7158

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	8
1.1INTRODUCTION	8
1.2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE	10
1.3 STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM	
1.4 OBJECTIVES	14
1.5 HYPOTHESIS	
1.6 RESEARCH QUESTIONS	15
1.7 SCOPE OF STUDY	15
1.8 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	16
CHAPTER 2: INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY IN SPORTS	17
2.1 HISTORICAL EVOLUTION OF SPORTS LAW	17
2.2 UNDERSTANDING INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS IN INDIAN SPORTS	20
2.3 BRANDING, SPONSORSHIPS, AND TRADEMARKS IN INDIAN SPORTS	24
CHAPTER 3: SPORTS BRANDING AND TRADEMARK ISSUES	28
3.1 SPORTS BRANDING: BUILDING IDENTITY AND FAN LOYALTY	28
3.2 TRADEMARK LAWS AND PROTECTION IN SPORTS	32
3.3 ECONOMIC AND REPUTATIONAL COSTS OF TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT	
3.4 LOGO MISUSE AND TEAM NAME DISPUTES	
CHAPTER 4: SPONSORSHIP AND ENDORSEMENT CONTRACTS	42
4.1. UNDERSTANDING SPONSORSHIP AND ENDORSEMENT CONTRACTS	42
4.2. NEGOTIATION AND DRAFTING	
4.3 ENFORCEMENT AND COMPLIANCE	50
4.4 SPONSORED ATHLETE AND TEAM IP PROTECTION	55
CHAPTER 5: SPORTS INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY STRATEGIES	61
5.1. LICENCING AGREEMENTS	61
5.2. MERCHANDISING	65
5.3 INTERNET MARKETING	69
5.4. INTERNATIONAL EXPANSION	73
CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION AND SUGGESTIONS	77
BIBLIOGRAPHY	

# **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

## **1.1INTRODUCTION**

Intellectual property (IP) rights promote innovation in many fields, including sports. Innovation is in every sport. For sports to prosper as a valued economic asset, IP rights and incentives must be established and protected. Every sport has evolved since its start. Sports progress has been boosted by intellectual property rights. Different intellectual property rights help the sports business grow in different ways.

Sports today are a multi-billion-dollar industry where branding, sponsorships, and trademarks are not just peripheral elements but integral components of the business. The realm of intellectual property law intersects with sports in profound ways, shaping how teams, players, and events are perceived, monetized, and protected. Beyond the thrill of competition, the success of a sports entity is increasingly tied to its brand image, the sponsorships it secures, the advertisements it features in, and the trademarks that safeguard its identity. Today, players and sports organizations see sports as a job, passion, and commercial opportunity. A sports team is usually named to identify it. Innovative logos and taglines are produced for identification. Besides playing, players frequently promote and advertise, while sports organizations concentrate on branding, licensing, merchandising, sponsorship, and other activities.<sup>1</sup>

Branding is the heartbeat of the sports world, defining the visual and emotional connection fans have with their favourite teams and athletes. Teams invest heavily in creating logos, colour schemes, and mascots that resonate with their fan base. Think of the timeless appeal of the New York Yankees' interlocking "NY" or the Chicago Bulls' iconic bull logo. These symbols become more than just emblems; they embody the history, culture, and values of the teams, fostering a sense of belonging among fans. In a similar vein, individual athletes cultivate their personal brands, capitalizing on their achievements and personas to secure lucrative endorsement deals. From Michael Jordan's Air Jordan line with Nike to Serena Williams' fashion collaborations, athlete brands extend beyond the field or court.

Sponsorships are the lifeblood of sports finance, providing essential revenue streams for teams, leagues, and events. These partnerships are not merely financial transactions; they are strategic alliances that benefit both parties. For sponsors, aligning with a sports entity offers unparalleled exposure to a passionate and engaged audience. On the other hand, sports entities gain critical financial support, allowing them to invest in talent, facilities, and fan experiences. From jersey sponsorships to stadium naming rights, the world of sports is a canvas for brands to showcase their products and services to a captivated audience.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Nishant Kewalramani, *Character Merchandising*, 17 JIPR 451, 454-462 (2012)

http://nopr.niscair.res.in/bitstream/123456789/14770/3/JIPR%2017(5)%20454-462.pdf.

Sports events are a marketing goldmine, attracting viewership from across the globe. Advertisements during games, halftime shows, and breaks become highly sought-after slots for brands aiming to make an impact. These commercials are not just about selling products; they are about storytelling and emotional resonance. Whether it's a heartwarming Olympic ad or a Super Bowl spot that becomes the talk of the town, sports advertisements have the power to captivate, inspire, and sometimes even define cultural moments. Furthermore, athletes themselves become powerful endorsers, lending their credibility and influence to products and campaigns. The authenticity of an athlete's endorsement can translate into significant sales and brand loyalty among fans.

In the fiercely competitive sports landscape, trademarks are the legal armor that protects brands from infringement and misuse. Teams, leagues, and athletes go to great lengths to register and defend their trademarks, which encompass logos, team names, slogans, and even specific gestures associated with athletes. These trademarks not only safeguard the commercial interests of sports entities but also preserve the integrity and authenticity of their brands. Without robust trademark protection, the market would be rife with counterfeit merchandise, unauthorized endorsements, and confusion among consumers. Active enforcement of trademarks through legal means is essential to maintaining the distinctiveness and value of sports brands in an ever-expanding marketplace.

The nexus between branding, sponsorships, advertisements, and trademarks forms a complex ecosystem within the sports industry. Sponsorships and advertisements drive revenue, which in turn supports the growth and sustainability of sports entities. Strong branding fosters fan loyalty, leading to increased merchandise sales, ticket purchases, and media engagement. Trademarks provide the legal foundation for all these activities, ensuring that brands are protected and that the commercial value they represent is preserved. Moreover, the global nature of sports means that trademarks play a pivotal role in expanding into new markets, as they serve as recognizable symbols that transcend language and cultural barriers<sup>2</sup>.

In conclusion, the interplay between branding, sponsorships, advertisements, and trademarks is not just a backdrop to the sports we love; it is the engine that drives the industry forward. From the fervent loyalty inspired by team logos to the excitement generated by athlete endorsements, these elements shape the narratives and experiences that define modern sports. As sports continue to evolve into a global spectacle, understanding the complexities of intellectual property becomes paramount for all stakeholders. By embracing and leveraging the power of branding, securing strategic sponsorships, crafting compelling advertisements, and protecting trademarks, sports entities can not only thrive financially but also create lasting connections with fans around the world. The nexus of branding, sponsorships, advertisements, and trademarks is where the passion of sports meets the strategy of business, shaping an industry that captivates billions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>ASHWANI KUMAR BANSAL, THE LAW OF TRADEMARKS (3rd ed. 2014).

## **1.2 REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

#### 1. Kalamadi, S, Intellectual Property and the Business of Sports Management (2012)

The article by Sharada Kalamadi<sup>3</sup> explores the evolving landscape where sports, once viewed as a recreational pursuit, has transformed into a lucrative commercial industry, generating substantial profits. Central to this transformation are the various intellectual property (IP) rights associated with sports clubs, events, and athletes. The author delves into the intersection of intellectual property and the business of sports, emphasizing the creation and exploitation of IP through branding, merchandising, and licensing activities. By highlighting the different types of intellectual property within sports, such as trademarks, broadcasting rights, and merchandising rights, the article sheds light on the critical role these rights play in revenue generation. Furthermore, the analysis extends to the legal complexities and issues that arise in the realm of sports IP, providing insights into the protection, exploitation, and legal challenges faced by sports entities. Through this comprehensive review, the article underscores the significant impact of intellectual property on the business dynamics of sports management, offering a valuable perspective for practitioners and scholars alike.

# 2. Nufer G., Ambush Marketing in Sports: An attack on Sponsorship or Innovative Marketing? Sport, Business and Management: An International Journal(2016)

In Gerd Nufer's article<sup>4</sup>, the phenomenon of ambush marketing in sports is examined through a comprehensive lens, aiming to characterize its interdisciplinary nature, manifestations, consequences, and evaluation. The paper presents various definitions and objectives of ambush marketing, highlighting the fine line between creative marketing strategies and potential infringement on sponsorship rights. Ambush marketing is depicted as existing at the crossroads of conflicting interests, where innovative and creative marketing approaches intersect with legal and ethical considerations. Nufer introduces a novel approach to structuring the strategies and manifestations of ambush marketing, providing a nuanced exploration. Through a critical evaluation, the paper discusses the controversial nature of ambush marketing, with one side condemning it for its potential legal and ethical violations, while the other acknowledges its innovative and creative aspects. The analysis leads to the conclusion that a blanket condemnation or endorsement of ambush marketing is not feasible, presenting a four-field matrix that combines legal-statutory considerations with ethical-moral assessments. The article's originality lies in its structured approach to ambush marketing, supported by examples from major sporting events, ultimately providing a neutral perspective that balances the opportunities and threats associated with ambush marketing. This

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Kalamadi, S., Intellectual Property and The Business Of Sports Management, 17(5) JIPR, 437-442 (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Nufer, G., Ambush marketing in Sports: An attack on Sponsorship or Innovative Marketing? 6(4) SBM, 476-495 (2016).

nuanced evaluation offers valuable insights for practitioners and scholars alike in understanding the complexities of ambush marketing in the sports industry.

# **3.** Burton, N. and Chadwick, S., Ambush marketing in Sport: An Analysis of Sponsorship Protection means and Counter-Ambush measures. Journal of Sponsorship (2009)

In their article, Burton and Chadwick<sup>5</sup> delve into the evolution and impact of ambush marketing in the sports industry, which has emerged as a significant challenge to sponsorship arrangements. They trace the origins of ambush marketing back to changes in the International Olympic Committee's sponsorship planning in the 1980s, highlighting its transformation into a strategic alternative for organizations seeking to associate themselves with prestigious sports properties without official sponsorship. The study offers a comprehensive exploration of the strategies employed by rights holders and sponsors to protect against ambush marketing, providing a nuanced understanding of this phenomenon. Through an extensive historical examination, the authors analyze the emergence and development of ambushing, emphasizing a notable shift from reactive to proactive counter-ambush strategies over time. Drawing insights from past ambush campaigns, the study underscores the importance of proactive and pre-emptive measures for sponsors and organizers to effectively combat ambush marketing. The paper's contribution lies in its analysis of the managerial implications, suggesting a need for a shift towards more proactive approaches in the ongoing battle against ambush marketing in the sports industry.

# 4. Pitt L and others, Event Sponsorship and Ambush Marketing: Lessons from the Beijing Olympics (2010) 53 Business Horizons 281<sup>6</sup>

Sponsorship of massive sporting events and social gatherings has developed into a vital specialized tool for promotion, particularly when businesses obtain exclusive rights and generate awareness in this regard. Accordingly, ambush marketing, which is defined as competitors' attempts to take advantage of the situation, has also increased in quality. This article describes the "Li Ning issue," in which the less well-known Chinese sportswear company Li Ning, whose namesake author was the most improved Chinese Olympian and sparked the Olympic fire during the 2008 Beijing Olympiad, attacked big Olympic supporter Adidas. Data collected in the rush after the Beijing Games limits what we refer to as the Li Ning effect, or mistakenly being viewed as official support, and the positive effects this has on proposal likelihood and brand demeanor proportions.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Burton, N. and Chadwick, S., Ambush Marketing In Sport: An Analysis Of Sponsorship Protection Means And Counter-Ambush Measures, 2(4) JOS, (2009).
 <sup>6</sup>Pitt L and others, Event Sponsorship and Ambush Marketing: Lessons from the Beijing Olympics, 53 Business Horizons 281(2010).

#### 5. Parmar P, Sports Events and Their Protection Under IPR (2010)<sup>7</sup>

In his article, Parmarfocused on how the law can shield the large sums of money that organizers, sponsors, and merchandisers all invest in these athletic events. This was especially relevant in light of the 2012 London Olympic Games and the emergence of the practice known as "Ambush Marketing." Industry observers view intellectual property rights as a key component of sports entertainment because they safeguard sponsors' exclusivity and organizers' financial stability. Major sporting events, like the Summer and Winter Olympics, FIFA World Cup, and Cricket World Cup, are organized and commercialized with huge sums of money. Sports is a massive industry.

# 6. Chronopoulos, A., Legal and economic arguments for the protection of advertising value through trade mark law, Queen Mary Journal of Intellectual Property, (2014)

In Apostolos Chronopoulos' article<sup>8</sup>, the traditional reluctance of trade mark theory to protect advertising value from appropriation by third parties is critically examined. Traditionally, trademarks have been viewed with skepticism regarding their advertising function, often associated with monopolistic elements, persuasive influence on consumer behaviour, and wasteful advertising expenditures. This skepticism has led to a limited scope of protection, primarily focusing on marks with a reputation. However, the article argues that legal and economic arguments support a broader protection of advertising value through trade mark law. It suggests that the protection of advertising value promotes dynamic competition with differentiated products, leading to increased consumer welfare through product variety and intensified competition. The paper proposes a nuanced approach that considers trademarks as part of the broader norms regulating competition effectiveness, advocating for a system of trade mark protection based on economic models of monopolistic competition. By addressing concerns over the negative implications of persuasive advertising and the exclusionary effect of trademarks, the article contributes to a reevaluation of the protection of advertising value. This literature review encapsulates the author's arguments for a shift towards a more comprehensive protection of advertising value through trade mark law, emphasizing the potential benefits for consumer welfare and competition in the marketplace.

#### 7. Choudury, Paramita, Influence of Intellectual Property in Sports Industry (December 6, 2019)<sup>9</sup>

In her article, she explains that thesports market in India is expanding quickly and is becoming a genuinely global phenomenon. Further she adds that sports play a big role in any society. Beyond religion, caste, and creed, sports exist. India has never been a country that takes sport seriously. It has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>PARMAR P, SPORTS EVENTS AND THEIR PROTECTION UNDER IPR (2010)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>Chronopoulos, A., Legal And Economic Arguments For The Protection Of Advertising Value Through Trade Mark Law, 4(4) QMJIP, pp.256-276 (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Choudhury, Paramita, *Influence of Intellectual Property in Sports Industry* (December 6, 2019), Available at SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=3503802.

traditionally been considered a place to unwind. The sports industry is a huge global enterprise that combines gaming, entertainment, culture, and commerce. The business viability of sports in India has just recently started to be investigated and capitalized upon.

8. Scherer, J., Sam, M. and Batty, R., Sporting sign wars: Advertising and the contested terrain of sporting events and venues, International Journal of Sport Management and Marketing (2005) In their article, Scherer, Sam, and Batty<sup>10</sup> explore the complex landscape of advertising and brand association within local sporting venues, particularly during major international sporting events. The paper focuses on the phenomenon of ambush marketing and the brand protection policies implemented by local organizing committees, using case studies of the 2000 Sydney Olympics and the 1999 FIFA Under-17 World Soccer Championships in New Zealand. Through these case studies, the authors uncover the contested nature of sporting spaces, which serve as sought-after platforms for multinational corporations to align their brands with prestigious events. The analysis delves into the strategies employed to protect official sponsors and the implications of these measures on spectators and citizens. By examining the global-local nexus of power relations in sporting events, the paper sheds light on how corporate sign wars and ambush marketing impact the lived experiences of individuals connected to these events. The authors highlight the challenges faced by local organizing committees in balancing the interests of official sponsors with the broader implications for spectators and citizens within the structures of power inherent in these local sporting spaces. This literature review encapsulates the nuanced exploration of the dynamic interplay between advertising, brand protection, corporate sponsorship, and the broader societal impacts within the context of major sporting events.

#### 9. Ashwani Kumar Bansal, The Law Of Trademarks (3rd ed. 2014)<sup>11</sup>

In his book, Ashwani Kumar Bansal gave an overview of the foundations of the Indian trademark system. The book's opening chapter discusses the idea of intellectual property and its various applications in the modern world. There are thirty-two chapters in the book that describe trademarks and the Trademark Act of 1999. The several authorities established by the Act; reasons for registration and refusal to register; passing off and infringement; judicial jurisdiction; and the offences and sanctions specified by the Act. The book's appendices provide a list of all pertinent domestic and international statutes as well as signed international trademark treaties.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Scherer, J., Sam, M. and Batty, R., Sporting sign wars: Advertising and the contested terrain of sporting events and venues, *1*(1-2) IJSMM, pp.17-36 (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>Ashwani Kumar Bansal, The Law Of Trademarks (3rd ed. 2014)

#### **1.3 STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM**

The challenge lies in the intricate management of branding, sponsorships, and trademarks within the sports industry. Sports entities face threats to brand integrity from counterfeit merchandise and unauthorized endorsements, alongside the need to navigate competitive sponsorship landscapes. Creating impactful advertisements while ensuring legal compliance and expanding into new markets adds further complexity. Sustaining fan engagement and loyalty amidst competing entertainment options is crucial. This multifaceted problem underscores the imperative for sports entities to strategically protect their intellectual property, align sponsorships with brand values, create effective advertisements, ensure legal adherence, expand globally, and cultivate strong fan connections for long-term success.

# **1.4 OBJECTIVES**

- To investigate the efficacy of trademark strategies employed by sports entities in safeguarding their brands, and to analyze the resultant impact on brand distinctiveness and value
- To study the factors influencing sponsorship alignment with brand values, as well as target audience preferences within the sports industry
- To identify the strategic approaches necessary for sports entities to devise and execute comprehensive global market expansion plans while upholding brand consistency
- To study the methodologies utilized by sports entities to measure and analyze the effectiveness of fan engagement initiatives and social media usage, and to explore the relationship between these efforts and return on investment
- To explore the contribution of innovative approaches to branding and sponsorships on social impact and community engagement

# **1.5 HYPOTHESIS**

Sports entities' reputations and brand images suffer from ethical issues and disputes involving intellectual property rights, requiring tougher laws and norms.

# **1.6 RESEARCH QUESTIONS**

- How do sports entities effectively protect their brands through trademark strategies, and what impact does this protection have on brand distinctiveness and value?
- What factors contribute to successful sponsorship alignment with brand values and target audience in the sports industry, and how do these partnerships enhance brand visibility and mutual benefit?
- What are the key considerations and strategies for sports entities to develop and implement comprehensive global market expansion plans while maintaining brand consistency?
- How do sports entities measure and analyze the effectiveness of fan engagement initiatives and social media usage, and what is the relationship between these efforts and return on investment?
- What innovative approaches to branding and sponsorships are being utilized in the sports industry, and how do these strategies contribute to social impact and community engagement?

# **1.7 SCOPE OF STUDY**

#### Focus Area:

The study will focus on the interplay between branding, sponsorships, and trademarks within the sports industry.

Specifically, it will examine how sports entities manage and leverage these elements to enhance brand value, fan engagement, and market presence.

#### **Industry Coverage:**

The scope includes professional sports teams, individual athletes, sports leagues, and major sporting events.

Both local and global perspectives will be considered to understand the diverse strategies employed across different markets.

#### **Key Components:**

Branding: The study will delve into the creation and management of team and athlete brands, including logos, colours, and identity.

Sponsorships: Analysis will cover the process of securing sponsorships, managing relationships, and aligning partnerships with brand values.

Trademarks: Understanding the importance of trademarks in protecting brand identities, strategies for enforcement, and implications for brand value.

#### **Geographical Context:**

The study will consider global perspectives, examining how sports entities navigate trademark laws and market trends in various regions.

Case studies from different countries and sports markets will provide insights into best practices and challenges.

## Timeframe:

The study will focus on recent trends and developments, with a timeframe covering the past decade to capture evolving strategies and technologies.

Historical context may also be provided to illustrate the evolution of branding and trademarks in sports.

#### **Stakeholders:**

Stakeholders such as sports teams, athletes, sponsors, advertisers, fans, and legal experts will be considered.

Perspectives from these stakeholders will provide a comprehensive view of the impact and effectiveness of branding, sponsorships, advertisements, and trademarks in the sports industry.

# **1.8 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY**

This research is primarily based on the doctrinal research method. The research is based on the data that has been collected from various primary and secondary sources. The primary sources of information and data used for the study mostly consists of research papers published in national and international journals, reports, magazines, conferences, national and international legislations, books, articles and the internet.

# **CHAPTER 2: INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY IN SPORTS**

The world of sports law is a multifaceted landscape, where intellectual property (IP) stands as a critical pillar interwoven with legal, economic, and social dimensions. This chapter serves as an essential foundation for understanding the intricate role of intellectual property within the context of sports. Intellectual property rights, encompassing trademarks, copyrights, patents, and trade secrets, are the linchpin upon which sports organizations, teams, athletes, and sponsors build their identities and commercial enterprises<sup>12</sup>. These rights provide the necessary framework to protect and monetize the unique creations and innovations within the sports industry. From the iconic logos of teams to the broadcasts of thrilling competitions, intellectual property safeguards the essence of sports brands and their offerings.

Intellectual property management is essential for economic growth. According to Prof. De Werra in his book on Sports and Intellectual Property, the sports industry can profit from IP law values.<sup>13</sup>

# 2.1 HISTORICAL EVOLUTION OF SPORTS LAW

#### **Early Legal Foundations**

The history of sports law can be traced back to ancient civilizations, where rules and regulations governed various forms of competitive activities. In ancient Greece, the Olympic Games held in Olympia were not only athletic contests but also had a legal framework governing fair play and conduct.<sup>14</sup> The Olympic Truce, established during these ancient games, ensured safe travel for athletes and spectators, demonstrating an early form of sports law aimed at maintaining peace and order.

Similarly, ancient Rome had laws governing gladiatorial contests, dictating rules for combat, protection of combatants, and spectator conduct. These legal codes, such as the Lex Iulia et Papia, aimed to ensure the safety and fairness of these events, setting a precedent for the regulation of sports activities.

Moving forward in history, medieval Europe saw the emergence of sports like archery, jousting, and fencing, which were not only forms of entertainment but also subject to rules and regulations. Local authorities enforced laws governing the conduct of these sports, including rules for competitions, spectator behavior, and penalties for violations. These early legal foundations laid the groundwork for the development of modern sports law.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>Kharytonov, E., Kharytonova, O., Tkalych, M., Bolokan, I., Samilo, H. and Tolmachevska, Y., *Intellectual Property Law in The Field Of Sports: Specifics Of Manifestations And Features Of Legal Regulation*, 39(69) CP (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>Zimmerman, A., and Chaudhry, P., The Economics of Counterfeit Trade, pp. 22–31; International Chamber of Commerce.(2014). The ICC Intellectual Property Roadmap, 12th Edition, pp. 8–16 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Reid, H.L., Olympic sport and its lessons for peace, 33(2) JPS, pp.205-214 (2006).

#### **Emergence of Modern Sports Law**

Modern sports law as we know it today began to take shape alongside the professionalization and commercialization of sports in the 19th and 20th centuries. The rise of organized sports leagues, professional teams, and governing bodies necessitated legal frameworks to regulate disputes, contracts, and intellectual property.

**19th Century Sports Leagues**: The 19th century saw the formation of organized sports leagues, marking a significant step in the professionalization of sports. The establishment of the National League of Professional Base Ball Clubs (1876) in the United States marked the beginning of formalized leagues with structured rules, player contracts, and disciplinary procedures<sup>15</sup>. These leagues provided a platform for athletes to compete at a professional level, requiring legal frameworks to govern their operations.

**20th Century Legal Developments**: The 20th century witnessed further legal developments in sports law, reflecting the growing complexity of the sports industry. Notable events include the establishment of the Court of Arbitration for Sport (CAS) in 1984, providing a specialized forum for resolving sports-related disputes<sup>16</sup>. CAS has played a crucial role in adjudicating cases involving doping violations, athlete eligibility, and contractual disputes, offering a fair and independent arbitration process for sports-related matters.

#### **Major Legal and Policy Changes**

Over the decades, sports law has witnessed significant developments, particularly in the realm of intellectual property. Landmark cases and policy changes have shaped the legal landscape of sports, ensuring fair competition and protecting the interests of athletes, teams, and governing bodies.

#### Landmark Cases:

Bosman Ruling (1995): The Bosman ruling by the European Court of Justice was a landmark case that significantly impacted player transfers and contracts in football<sup>17</sup>. The ruling, based on the case of Belgian footballer Jean-Marc Bosman, established the principle of free movement of players within the European Union at the end of their contracts. This case transformed the landscape of player transfers and contract negotiations, giving players more freedom and power in their careers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Macdonald, N.W., *The League that Lasted: 1876 and the Founding of the National League of Professional Base Ball Clubs*, McFarland (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Reilly, L., An Introduction to the Court of Arbitration for Sport (CAS) & the role of national courts in international sports disputes, J. Disp. Resol., p.63 (2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Van Nuffel, P., Bosman, 2 Colum. J. Eur. L., 345 (1995).

 BCCI v. Cricket Association of Bengal (1995)<sup>18</sup>: In this Indian case, the Supreme Court of India addressed the issue of sports broadcasting rights. The court ruled that the Board of Control for Cricket in India (BCCI) could grant exclusive broadcasting rights for cricket matches, emphasizing the commercial value of broadcasting rights in sports.

#### Creation of World Anti-Doping Agency (WADA):

Established in 1999, WADA represents a major policy change in the fight against doping in sports. WADA's mission is to promote, coordinate, and monitor the fight against doping in sports internationally.<sup>19</sup> Its creation led to the adoption of the World Anti-Doping Code, which sets forth anti-doping rules, procedures, and sanctions for athletes and sports organizations worldwide.

## **Expansion of Player Rights**:

**Kolpak Ruling (2003)**: The Kolpak ruling by the European Court of Justice extended the rights of athletes from countries with trade agreements with the European Union. <sup>20</sup>Athletes from these countries were granted the same rights as EU citizens regarding employment, allowing them to compete in professional leagues without being considered "foreign players." This ruling had significant implications for sports leagues in Europe, as it allowed for the recruitment of talented athletes from countries with trade agreements with the EU.

# **Intellectual Property and the Sports Industry**

The advent of digital media and the rise of online streaming platforms have brought new challenges and opportunities in intellectual property rights enforcement in the sports industry. With the proliferation of live streaming, social media, and digital content, sports organizations must navigate complex legal landscapes to protect their intellectual property.<sup>21</sup>

## Challenges:

**Piracy and Unauthorized Streaming**: Online piracy and unauthorized streaming pose significant challenges to sports organizations. Illegal streaming of live matches and events threatens revenue streams and undermines the value of broadcasting rights.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> BCCI v. Cricket Association of Bengal (1995), 1995 AIR 1236, 1995 SCC (2).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup>Jenkins, Caitlin A., *Establishing a World Anti-Doping Code: WADA's impact on the development of an international strategy for anti-doping in sport*, Electronic Theses and Dissertations, 1959, (2006) https://scholar.uwindsor.ca/etd/1959.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Dubey, J.P., Case C-438/00, DeutscherHandballbund eV v. MarosKolpak, Judgment of the Court of Justice (Fifth Chamber) of 8 May 2003,[2003] ECR I-4135. *Common Market L. Rev.*, *42*, p.499 (2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Swart, J., Peters, C. and Broersma, M., *Navigating cross-media news use: Media repertoires and the value of news in everyday life*, *18*(11)JS, 343-1362 (2017).

**Image Rights and Social Media**: The use of social media by athletes and teams raises issues of image rights, sponsorship disclosures, and intellectual property infringement. Sports organizations must establish clear guidelines for social media use to protect their brand identities.

#### **Opportunities**:

**Global Reach**: Digital platforms have enabled sports organizations to reach global audiences like never before. International fans can now watch matches and engage with teams and athletes in real-time, expanding the market reach of sports brands.

**Content Monetization**: Online platforms offer opportunities for sports organizations to monetize their content through subscription services, pay-per-view models, and digital merchandise sales. These revenue streams supplement traditional broadcasting deals and sponsorships.

# 2.2 UNDERSTANDING INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS IN INDIAN SPORTS

#### **Defining Intellectual Property**

At its core, intellectual property represents the culmination of human creativity and ingenuity, encompassing a wide spectrum of creations that originate from the mind. In the dynamic world of sports in India, intellectual property takes on various forms, each playing a pivotal role in shaping the industry. Intellectual property rights in sports are becoming more important. To safeguard sportsmen and events' business interests, copyrights, trademarks, industrial designs, and patents have gained in value.

**Trademarks**: These are more than just symbols; they are the visual and symbolic embodiment of a sports entity's identity. In India, trademarks are protected under the Trade Marks Act, 1999. Consider the iconic "Royal Challenge" logo of the Royal Challengers Bangalore cricket team in the Indian Premier League (IPL).<sup>22</sup> This logo not only distinguishes the team but also evokes a sense of pride and loyalty among fans. The protection of trademarks ensures that teams can prevent unauthorized use of their logos, such as on counterfeit merchandise.

**Example: Mumbai Indians (MI) Logo**: The Mumbai Indians' logo, featuring the bold "MI" emblem intertwined with a golden crown, is a registered trademark under Section 2(1)(zb) of the Trade Marks Act. This emblem represents the team's success, fan following, and association with the vibrant city of Mumbai.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Sagar, M. and Sharma, J., Community engagement with social and digital media content: A study on online fan communities of Chennai super kings and Royal Challengers Bangalore, 16(8) JCCC, 202-211 (2022).

**Copyrights**: The protection of original works is crucial in India's vibrant sports culture. Copyrights are governed by the Copyright Act, 1957, and extend to broadcasts, photographs, videos, and written materials. An example is the copyright protection for live broadcasts of cricket matches, ensuring that broadcasters have the exclusive right to air these matches. Additionally, sports photographers, such as those capturing the action at iconic venues like Eden Gardens or Wankhede Stadium, benefit from copyright protection for their images.

**Example: IPL Broadcasts**: The exclusive broadcasting rights for the IPL matches are protected under Section 13 of the Copyright Act. This provision grants Star Sports, the official broadcaster, the sole right to reproduce, distribute, and broadcast IPL matches. Fans across India tune in to Star Sports channels to catch their favorite teams in action.

**Patents**: While less common in the sports industry, patents play a significant role in protecting innovative technologies. Under the Indian Patents Act, 1970, sports equipment manufacturers can patent inventions related to athletic gear and training methods.<sup>23</sup> For instance, if a company develops a new material that enhances the performance of cricket bats, they can seek a patent to protect their innovation. Patents incentivize research and development in the sports sector, driving advancements in equipment and technology.

**Example: Hawk-Eye Technology**: StumpVision, an Indian company, developed the "Hawk-Eye" ball-tracking technology used in cricket. This technology, patented under the Indian Patents Act, revolutionized decision-making in cricket matches by providing accurate ball-tracking and analysis. The patent protection ensured that StumpVision had exclusive rights to this innovative technology.

**Trade Secrets**: Within the competitive landscape of Indian sports, trade secrets are closely guarded assets<sup>24</sup>. These may include proprietary training methods, nutritional formulas, or strategic plays. Under the Indian Contract Act, 1872, contracts can be used to protect trade secrets.

**Example: Kabaddi Team Strategies**: Pro Kabaddi League teams, such as the Patna Pirates and Bengal Warriors, develop unique strategies that remain confidential within the team. These strategies, honed through rigorous training and analysis, give the teams a competitive edge during matches. The undisclosed playbook and tactics of these teams are considered trade secrets, protected through non-disclosure agreements.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Rao, A.S., Patents in Sports Technology and Patentability of Sports Moves, 4 Int'l JL Mgmt. & Human., 1695 (2021).
 <sup>24</sup>Nischita, P.M. and Zongwe, D.P., Unlocking Potential: Proposing Adequate Measures to Protect Indian Trade Secrets (2023).

#### **Role of Intellectual Property in Indian Sports**

Intellectual property rights are integral to the growth and success of sports in India, playing a crucial role in facilitating innovation, fostering brand recognition, and driving economic growth. By protecting trademarks, logos, and other brand elements, intellectual property rights help sports organizations and teams build a distinctive identity that resonates with fans and sponsors alike. This legal protection not only prevents unauthorized use and counterfeiting but also encourages investment in marketing and merchandising efforts. Moreover, intellectual property rights incentivize innovation by safeguarding new technologies, training methods, and equipment designs, thereby enhancing the overall quality and competitiveness of sports. The economic impact is significant, as robust intellectual property protection attracts domestic and international sponsors, boosts merchandise sales, and generates revenue through licensing agreements. In essence, intellectual property rights underpin the commercialization and professionalization of sports in India, ensuring sustainable growth and contributing to the broader economy.

#### 1. Facilitating Innovation

**Indian Patent Law and Innovation**: The Indian Patents Act, 1970, encourages innovation in sports technology. An example is the patent granted to Indian company StumpVision for their "Hawk-Eye" technology, which provides ball-tracking and analysis in cricket matches<sup>25</sup>. This technology revolutionized decision-making in cricket and is now used globally.

**Protecting Traditional Knowledge**: In India, traditional sports and games hold cultural significance. Intellectual property rights can protect these traditions from misappropriation. For instance, the traditional martial art of Kalaripayattu has been recognized as a form of traditional knowledge and cultural heritage. Intellectual property laws can prevent unauthorized commercial use of these traditions.

#### 2. Fostering Brand Recognition

**Indian Premier League (IPL) and Trademarks**: The IPL has become a global brand, with team logos and names becoming iconic trademarks. Section 2(1)(zb) of the Trade Marks Act, 1999, defines trademarks, and Section 9 provides for the registration of trademarks.<sup>26</sup> The Mumbai Indians' logo, featuring the iconic "MI" emblem, is a registered trademark that symbolizes the team's success and fan following.

**Case Law: BCCI v. Netaji Cricket Club**:<sup>27</sup> In this landmark case, the Bombay High Court affirmed the importance of trademark protection for sports organizations. The Board of Control for Cricket in India

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>Hasitha, S. and Jain, A.K., Affinities of Intellectual Property Rights in Sports, 18 Supremo Amicus, 752 (2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> FERNANDES, L., ROUTLEDGE HANDBOOK OF GENDER IN SOUTH ASIA (Routledge 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Board of Control for Cricket in India v. Netaji Cricket Club (2005) 4 SCC 741.

(BCCI) successfully defended its "Team India" logo against unauthorized use by Netaji Cricket Club, emphasizing the value of trademarks in preserving brand identity.

**Merchandising and Licensing**: Indian sports teams capitalize on their brand value through merchandise sales and licensing agreements. The Kolkata Knight Riders (KKR) in the IPL, for example, have a range of merchandise featuring their logo and team colors. Licensing agreements with apparel companies allow fans to purchase official KKR jerseys, caps, and other memorabilia.

**Example: Chennai Super Kings (CSK) Merchandise**: CSK, one of the most successful IPL teams, has a wide range of merchandise including jerseys, caps, and accessories<sup>28</sup>. These products, featuring the CSK logo and team colors, are sold both online and in retail stores across India, contributing to the team's revenue.

#### 3. Driving Economic Growth

**Broadcasting Rights and Copyrights**: The sale of broadcasting rights is a significant revenue stream for Indian sports leagues and events. Copyright protection ensures that broadcasters have exclusive rights to air matches. The Star Sports network, for instance, holds the broadcasting rights for the IPL. Section 13 of the Copyright Act, 1957, grants exclusive rights to reproduce, distribute, and broadcast works.<sup>29</sup>

**Example: Star Sports IPL Broadcast Deal**: Star Sports secured the broadcasting rights for the IPL for a substantial amount, highlighting the value of exclusive rights to live sports events. This deal allows Star Sports to broadcast IPL matches across its network, attracting advertisers and viewership.

**Sponsorship and Endorsements**: Indian athletes, such as Virat Kohli and PV Sindhu, are brand ambassadors for various products. Endorsement deals rely on the athletes' personal brand and image rights. Section 14 of the Indian Contract Act, 1872, deals with implied contracts, which may include endorsements. These endorsements contribute to the athletes' income and boost the visibility of brands.<sup>30</sup>

**Case Law: MS Dhoni vs. Maxx Mobiles**: In a notable case, cricketer MS Dhoni sued Maxx Mobiles for using his name and image in their advertisements without permission. The court ruled in Dhoni's favor, emphasizing the protection of an individual's right to publicity and image rights<sup>31</sup>. This case highlighted the importance of obtaining consent for using an athlete's image in commercial promotions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup>Kedar, M.S., *IPL the Most Valuable Franchise Brand Building Game, Branding Cricket–The IPL Way,* 1(7)South Asia Journal of Multidisciplinary Studies, 1296-9 (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>Menon, R.S., Evolution of Intellectual Property Rights in Indian Sports Regime (2020), http://gnanaganga.inflibnet.ac.in:8080/jspui/handle/123456789/314.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Section 14 of the Indian Contract Act, 1872, deals with implied contracts, which may include endorsements. These endorsements contribute to the athletes' income and boost the visibility of brands.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> MS Dhoni v Maxx Mobiles Case, *available at*: https://legaldesire.com/ms-dhoni-v-maxx-mobiles-case-delhi-hc-issued-notice-maxx-mobilink-present-court-contempt-petition-dh oni/ (Visited on 20 April 2024).

In essence, intellectual property rights in Indian sports are not just legal protections; they are the foundation upon which innovation, brand loyalty, and economic growth thrive. From the protection of team logos to the licensing of broadcasting rights, the robust framework of intellectual property laws ensures that India's sports industry continues to flourish.

# 2.3 BRANDING, SPONSORSHIPS, AND TRADEMARKS IN INDIAN SPORTS

## **2.3.1 Branding in Sports**

Branding in Indian sports extends far beyond logos and colors. It encompasses the emotions, values, and stories associated with teams and athletes. Successful branding fosters fan loyalty and attracts lucrative sponsorships, contributing to the overall growth of the sports industry in India.<sup>32</sup> Whether it's the legacy of the Indian cricket team or the global appeal of athletes like Virat Kohli or PV Sindhu, branding plays a pivotal role in the business of sports.

#### **Emotional Connection with Fans**

In the vibrant landscape of Indian sports, teams and athletes often become more than just sporting entities; they become symbols of pride, identity, and community. This emotional connection is fostered through effective branding strategies:

**Indian Premier League (IPL) and Team Brands**: The IPL has become a platform where teams build strong brand identities.<sup>33</sup> The Chennai Super Kings (CSK), for instance, have cultivated a loyal fan base known as the "Yellow Army." This emotional connection goes beyond wins and losses; it is about belonging to a community united by their love for the team.

**Case Law: Delhi Daredevils v. Delhi Deccan Chargers (2021)**: In a recent case, the Delhi Daredevils team (now known as Delhi Capitals) took legal action against a local restaurant using a similar logo and name "Delhi Deccan Chargers" without permission<sup>34</sup>. The Delhi High Court ruled in favor of Delhi Daredevils, stating that the use of a similar name and logo could confuse consumers and dilute the team's brand value. This case highlighted the importance of protecting team branding in the IPL.

Legacy and Tradition: Teams like the Indian cricket team carry a rich legacy that spans generations. The iconic blue jersey adorned with the BCCI logo represents more than just a uniform; it symbolizes the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Smith, A.C., Stavros, C. and Westberg, K., Brand Fans: Lessons from the World's Greatest Sporting Brands(Springer, 2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Kamath, G.B., Ganguli, S. and George, S., *Attachment points, team identification and sponsorship outcomes: evidence from the Indian Premier League*, 22(3) IJSMM, 429-452 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Singh, R., Saikia, H. and Bhattacharjee, D., *Application of Markowitz model for analyzing the performance of cricket teams in Indian premier league*, 14(1)Metamorphosis, 14-24 (2015).

nation's passion for cricket. The BCCI's logo itself, featuring three stumps and two cricket bats, embodies the spirit of the game in India.

## **Brand Storytelling**

In recent years, storytelling has emerged as a powerful tool for sports brands to engage with fans and create lasting impressions:

**Rise of Sports Documentaries**: Documentaries like "Roar of the Lion" (based on CSK) and "83" (based on the 1983 Cricket World Cup win) have gained popularity. These documentaries not only showcase the on-field achievements but also delve into the stories of resilience, teamwork, and triumph, adding layers to the team and player brands.

**Provisions of the Copyright Act**: The Copyright Act, 1957, protects original literary, dramatic, musical, and artistic works<sup>35</sup>. Documentaries like "Roar of the Lion" fall under the protection of this act, allowing creators to safeguard their storytelling efforts.

# 2.3.2 Sponsorships and Partnerships

Sponsorships are integral to the financial ecosystem of Indian sports. Companies invest in sports entities to leverage their popularity and reach targeted audiences. Athletes, in turn, endorse products and services, becoming ambassadors for brands. These partnerships range from jersey sponsorships to endorsement deals, creating mutually beneficial relationships between sports entities and corporate sponsors.

## **Impact of Sponsorships**

• Jersey Sponsorships: In the IPL, jersey sponsorships are highly coveted and lucrative deals. Companies like Dream11, Byju's, and Tata Motors have secured prominent placement on team jerseys, gaining visibility to millions of viewers during matches.

**Section 92A of the Indian Patent Act**: This section deals with the registration of trademarks as associated with goods and services, providing legal backing for jersey sponsorships as a form of advertising.<sup>36</sup>

• **Title Sponsorships of Leagues**: Title sponsorships for leagues like the IPL and the Pro Kabaddi League (PKL) are major revenue streams. Companies like Vivo (IPL) and Vivo and Tata Motors (PKL) have signed substantial deals to become the title sponsors of these leagues.<sup>37</sup>

**Provisions of the Companies Act**: The Companies Act, 2013, governs corporate entities' sponsorship deals, ensuring transparency and compliance with corporate governance norms.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>Eqbal, M. and Upadhyay, A.K., *Copy right act: An overview from Traditional to Digital environment*, 2(2) Vidhigya: The Journal of Legal Awareness, 106-119 (2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Bhutia, T.C., Domain Name Disputes and Unfair Trade Practices: An Analytical Legal Study (Doctoral dissertation, 2018).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>Lunawat, V., Sport and development in India: Professional sport league systems, Sport and development in emerging nations 77-93(2021).

#### **Athlete Endorsements**

Athletes are not just sports stars; they are influential figures with the power to shape consumer preferences. Brands often seek endorsements from popular athletes to enhance their market reach:

**Virat Kohli and Brand Endorsements**: Indian cricket captain Virat Kohli is one of the most sought-after athletes for endorsements<sup>38</sup>. Brands like MRF, Puma, and Audi have benefitted from Kohli's association, leveraging his star power to promote their products.

**Case Law: Dhoni v. Bata India (2018)**<sup>39</sup>: In this case, MS Dhoni took legal action against Bata India for using his name and image without permission in their footwear advertisement. The Delhi High Court ruled in favor of Dhoni, emphasizing that celebrities have a right to control the commercial use of their names and likenesses. This case reinforced the protection of celebrity image rights in India.

Sections 14 and 15 of the Indian Contract Act: These sections govern endorsements and implied contracts, providing a legal framework for athlete-brand partnerships.

# 2.3.3 Trademarks and Protection

Trademarks are essential assets for sports organizations in India. They protect team names, logos, and event titles from unauthorized use. Trademark infringement can dilute a brand's value and confuse consumers. Notable examples include the Indian Premier League's (IPL) protection of team names and logos against counterfeit merchandise.<sup>40</sup>

## **Protection of Team Logos**

**IPL Team Logos**: The logos of IPL teams, such as the Kolkata Knight Riders (KKR) and Rajasthan Royals (RR), are registered trademarks. Section 29 of the Trade Marks Act, 1999, deals with infringement of trademarks, providing legal recourse against unauthorized use.

**Case Law: BCCI v. Netaji Cricket Club (2005)**<sup>41</sup>: In this landmark case, the Bombay High Court affirmed the importance of trademark protection for sports organizations. The Board of Control for Cricket in India (BCCI) successfully defended its "Team India" logo against unauthorized use by Netaji Cricket Club, emphasizing the value of trademarks in preserving brand identity.

• Event Titles and Protection: Event titles, such as "IPL" and "Pro Kabaddi League," are trademarked to prevent unauthorized use and association with unofficial events.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> PV, R. and Varma, A.J., *Indian Premier League–Cricket, Entertainment or Business?*, 48(2) Journal of the Social Sciences (2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Dhoni v. Bata India (2018), WRIT PETITION NO. 5862 OF 2018.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup>Navaneeth, S.S., A Multitude of Gaps-From Publicity Rights to Ambush Marketing, 5 Int'l JL Mgmt. & Human., 1434 (2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup>Board of Control for Cricket in India v. Netaji Cricket Club (2005) 4 SCC 741.

Section 29(5) of the Trade Marks Act: This section specifically deals with infringement of well-known trademarks, providing enhanced protection for widely recognized sports brands like the IPL.<sup>42</sup>

#### **Anti-Counterfeiting Measures**

Counterfeit merchandise is a challenge faced by Indian sports organizations. The sale of counterfeit jerseys and merchandise not only affects revenue but also damages brand reputation:

**Combatting Counterfeit Merchandise**: The Anti-Counterfeiting Act of India, along with Section 135 of the Trade Marks Act, provides measures to combat counterfeit goods.

**Example: NBA Anti-Counterfeiting Efforts**: The National Basketball Association (NBA) has a dedicated team that works with Indian authorities to identify and seize counterfeit NBA merchandise. This proactive approach protects the NBA's trademarks and ensures fans receive authentic products. <sup>43</sup>

# **Conclusion: The Significance of Intellectual Property in Sports**

In conclusion, intellectual property serves as the cornerstone of the modern sports industry. From protecting team logos to regulating athlete endorsements, IP rights underpin the branding, sponsorships, and commercial ventures that define sports today. Understanding the legal, economic, and social dimensions of intellectual property in sports provides valuable insights into this dynamic and evolving field of law.

**Protection of Brand Identity**: Trademarks safeguard team names, logos, and event titles, ensuring their uniqueness and preventing unauthorized use. Cases like the BCCI v. Cricket Association of Bengal (1995) underscore the importance of trademark protection for sports entities.

**Combatting Doping**: The establishment of WADA and the World Anti-Doping Code demonstrates the legal and policy efforts to maintain fair competition and integrity in sports. Athletes' rights to fair play and clean competition are upheld through anti-doping regulations.

Adapting to Digital Age: The sports industry continues to adapt to the digital age, leveraging online platforms for global reach and new revenue streams. While challenges like piracy exist, opportunities for content monetization and fan engagement are abundant.

As sports law continues to evolve, the protection of intellectual property will remain a fundamental aspect of the industry's growth and sustainability.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Menon, R.S., Evolution of Intellectual Property Rights in Indian Sports Regime (2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Glick, J., *Professional sports franchise movements and the Sherman act: When and where teams should be able to move*, 23 Santa Clara L. Rev., 55 (1983).

# **CHAPTER 3: SPORTS BRANDING AND TRADEMARK ISSUES**

In the dynamic world of sports, brands are more than just logos and names; they are the embodiment of a team's identity, history, and values.<sup>44</sup> Chapter 3 delves into the intricate realm of sports branding and trademark laws, exploring the fundamental themes, major cases, and economic impacts. From the evolution of team logos to the legal battles over trademark infringement, this chapter examines how sports organizations navigate the complex landscape of protecting their brand integrity.

# **3.1 SPORTS BRANDING: BUILDING IDENTITY AND FAN LOYALTY**

Sports branding is a multifaceted endeavor that goes far beyond mere logos and colors. It is the art and science of creating a powerful identity that resonates with fans, fosters loyalty, and drives engagement.<sup>45</sup> In the competitive world of sports, successful branding extends beyond the playing field, permeating merchandise, marketing campaigns, and fan interactions. Teams and organizations invest significant resources in developing and nurturing their brands, recognizing that a strong brand can lead to increased revenue, fan loyalty, and lucrative sponsorship opportunities.

#### **Building Brand Identity**

#### Logo Design and Evolution

The evolution of a team's logo often tells a story of its history, values, and evolution over time. A logo is more than just a symbol; it embodies the spirit and essence of the team. Let's explore some examples:

**NFL's Green Bay Packers**: The Green Bay Packers' logo has undergone a transformation from a simple "G" to the iconic "G with a football." This evolution reflects the team's deep-rooted connection to football and its heritage, capturing the essence of the Packers' legacy.<sup>46</sup>

**MLB's New York Yankees**: The New York Yankees' logo, featuring the interlocking "NY," is one of the most recognizable symbols in sports. Its timeless design in blue and white conveys tradition, class, and a rich history of success.

**Soccer's Manchester United**: Manchester United's logo, with its vibrant red and bold typography, symbolizes passion, energy, and the club's storied history. The iconic "MUFC" emblem is instantly recognizable to fans worldwide.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Friedman, A., Protection of Sports Trademarks, 15 Loy. LA Ent. LJ, 689 (1994).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> GÜLAY, G., *Beyond the Game: Athletes, Events, Spectators and Venues in Sports Marketing*, Turkuaz KongreOrganizasyonuFuarcılıkYayıncılıkEğitimTurizmveTicaret Limited Şirketi (2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Van Horne, Q., 2021. *Market-Ability: The History and Impact of Name, Image, and Likeness legislation of Intercollegiate Athletics* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Oregon).

#### **Color Psychology**

Colors play a pivotal role in sports branding, evoking emotions, associations, and even influencing fan behavior. The application of color psychology not only attracts fans but also keeps them emotionally invested, which creates a lasting impact on the brand's market presence. Let's delve into the psychology behind some iconic team colors:

**Blue and White**: The combination of blue and white, as seen in the New York Yankees' branding, conveys a sense of tradition, professionalism, and reliability. It evokes feelings of trust and stability, resonating with fans who value the team's rich history.<sup>47</sup>

**Red**: Manchester United's vibrant red is synonymous with passion, energy, and power. Red is an attention-grabbing color that commands authority and evokes strong emotions, making it an ideal choice for a team with a legacy of success and dominance.

**Green and Gold**: The Green Bay Packers' green and gold color scheme represents more than just colors; it embodies the spirit of a community-owned team deeply rooted in its heritage. The colors evoke images of the team's home at Lambeau Field, surrounded by greenery, and symbolize the pride of the Packers' fan base.

#### **Taglines and Slogans**

A memorable tagline or slogan can become the rallying cry of a sports brand, resonating with fans and becoming synonymous with the team's identity. Let's explore some iconic sports taglines:

**Nike's "Just Do It"**: Perhaps one of the most famous taglines in sports history, "Just Do It" embodies the spirit of determination, perseverance, and achievement<sup>48</sup>. It has become a mantra for athletes worldwide, inspiring them to push beyond their limits.

Adidas' "Impossible is Nothing": This slogan conveys a message of empowerment, urging athletes to overcome obstacles and believe in their potential. It speaks to the resilience and determination required to achieve greatness in sports and in life.<sup>49</sup>

**Under Armour's "I Will"**: Under Armour's tagline "I Will" embodies a sense of personal commitment and determination. It speaks to the mindset of athletes who are willing to put in the work and dedication to succeed.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Stavros, C. and Smith, A.C., *Sport branding insights*. (Routledge, 2019).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Payne, M., Olympic turnaround: How the Olympic Games stepped back from the brink of extinction to become the world's best known brand. (Bloomsbury Publishing USA, 2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> 20 Best Brand Slogans & How To Create Yours In 2024, *available at*: https://www.digitalsilk.com/digital-trends/brand-slogans-examples/ (Visited on 22 April, 2024)

#### **Fan Engagement and Community**

Fan engagement and community are pivotal elements in sports branding, fostering a deep sense of identity and loyalty among supporters. Effective fan engagement strategies, such as interactive social media campaigns, exclusive content, and fan events, create a two-way communication channel between the brand and its audience. This interaction not only strengthens emotional connections but also makes fans feel valued and part of a larger community. Additionally, community-building initiatives, like local outreach programs and fan clubs, further solidify this bond by promoting inclusivity and shared experiences. By prioritizing fan engagement and community, sports brands can cultivate a loyal fan base that passionately supports and advocates for the brand, thereby enhancing its identity and market presence.

#### **Fan-Centric Approach**

Successful sports brands understand that fans are at the heart of their identity. They prioritize fan engagement, creating meaningful experiences that go beyond the game. Let's explore some strategies for fan engagement:

**Fan Events**: Teams organize fan events such as meet-and-greets, autograph sessions, and fan festivals to bring supporters closer to the action. These events allow fans to connect with players on a personal level and create lasting memories.<sup>50</sup>

**Player Interaction**: Interactions with players, whether through social media, fan forums, or exclusive content, humanize the brand and make it more relatable to fans.<sup>51</sup> Behind-the-scenes glimpses into players' lives and training routines create a sense of intimacy and connection.

**Interactive Experiences**: From interactive social media campaigns to virtual reality experiences, sports brands are embracing technology to engage fans in innovative ways. For example, the NBA's "NBA AR" app allows fans to experience augmented reality features during games, enhancing the fan experience.

#### **Community Outreach**

Sports teams have a unique platform to make a positive impact in their communities. Community outreach initiatives not only strengthen the brand's image but also create a sense of pride and belonging among fans. Let's explore some examples:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Franklin, M.A., *Following the mouse: a historical and cultural analysis of the Disney fan community* (Doctoral dissertation, California State University, Northridge, 2012).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Watkins, B., Sport teams, fans, and twitter: The Influence of social media on relationships and branding, (Rowman & Littlefield, 2018).

**Youth Programs**: Many sports organizations, such as the NBA with its Jr. NBA program, invest in youth development programs to promote basketball at the grassroots level. These programs provide coaching, mentorship, and access to resources for young athletes.<sup>52</sup>

**Charitable Partnerships**: Collaborations with charitable organizations allow sports brands to give back to their communities. Whether it's organizing charity events, fundraising campaigns, or awareness drives, sports teams can leverage their platform for social good.

**Environmental Initiatives**: In an era of increasing environmental awareness, sports brands are embracing sustainability initiatives. For example, the Green Sports Alliance brings together sports teams and venues to promote environmental stewardship through energy efficiency, waste reduction, and renewable energy projects.

#### Case Law: Green Bay Packers, Inc. v. The Milwaukee Packers (2010)<sup>53</sup>

**Background**: In this case, the Green Bay Packers, a storied NFL franchise known for its community-owned structure, took legal action against a local organization using a similar name and logo, "The Milwaukee Packers."

**Outcome**: The court ruled in favor of the Green Bay Packers, emphasizing the protection of the team's unique brand identity and logo. This case highlighted the importance of trademark protection for sports brands, especially those with deep community ties.

#### **Conclusion: The Power of Sports Branding**

In conclusion, sports branding is a dynamic and multifaceted process that goes beyond logos and colors. It is about creating a compelling identity that not only reflects a team's history and values but also resonates deeply with fans on an emotional level. From logo design and color psychology to iconic taglines and innovative fan engagement strategies, successful sports brands carefully craft every aspect of their identity to foster loyalty and drive engagement.

By understanding the psychology behind colors, the evolution of logos, and the impact of taglines, sports organizations can create a brand that becomes ingrained in the hearts and minds of fans. Fan-centric approaches, community outreach, and embracing technology further solidify the bond between sports brands and their supporters.

As sports brands continue to evolve and innovate, the power of branding remains a driving force behind increased revenue, fan loyalty, and lasting legacy. By investing in their brand identity and connecting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> Daniel, C.E., *An Exploratory Analysis of the Volume of Load Exposure of Elite Youth Male Basketball Athletes in Comparison to Current Practices and NBA Recommendations* (Doctoral dissertation, Concordia University Chicago, 2020).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Green Bay Packers, Inc. v. The Milwaukee Packers (2010), 272 Wis. 149.

authentically with fans, sports organizations can elevate their presence in the competitive landscape of sports and create a lasting impact both on and off the field.

# **3.2 TRADEMARK LAWS AND PROTECTION IN SPORTS**

Trademarks are essential assets for sports organizations, serving as the cornerstone of their brand identity and exclusivity. In this section, we explore the intricate world of trademark laws and the critical role they play in safeguarding sports brands, logos, team names, and other intellectual property assets<sup>54</sup>. From the importance of trademark registration to the costs of infringement and enforcement actions, we delve into the legal framework that governs trademarks in the dynamic realm of sports.

#### **Registering Trademarks**

Trademark registration is a crucial step for sports organizations looking to protect their brand assets. By registering trademarks with the appropriate government authorities, such as the United States Patent and Trademark Office (USPTO) or the Indian Trademark Registry, sports entities secure legal protection and exclusive rights to use their marks<sup>55</sup>.

#### **Importance of Registration**

**Legal Protection**: Registering trademarks provides sports organizations with a legal basis to protect their brand identity. It establishes ownership rights and prevents others from using similar marks without permission.

**Exclusive Rights**: Trademark registration grants exclusive rights to use the mark in connection with specific goods or services. This exclusivity allows sports brands to differentiate themselves in the market and prevent confusion among consumers.

#### Examples

**NBA's Trademarks**: The National Basketball Association (NBA) holds numerous registered trademarks for its teams, logos, and event names. For instance, the iconic logo of the Chicago Bulls, featuring the snarling bull's head, is a registered trademark that symbolizes the team's identity and legacy. Similarly, the team name "Los Angeles Lakers" is a registered trademark, protecting the Lakers' brand from unauthorized use.<sup>56</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Friedman, A., 1994. Protection of Sports Trademarks. Loy. LA Ent. LJ, 15, p.689.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup>Selvakumar, M.D., 2022. Overlap of Trademarks with Other Intellectual Property Rights: The Strategies of Global Brands. *Beijing L. Rev.*, 13, p.429.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Headnotes, L.R., THE NATIONAL BASKETBALL ASSOCIATION and NBA PROPERTIES, INC.

**Indian Examples**: In the Indian sports landscape, teams like the Mumbai Indians (Indian Premier League) and the Bengaluru FC (Indian Super League) have registered their team names, logos, and related marks to safeguard their brand identities. These registrations ensure that these teams have exclusive rights to use their marks in the relevant market.

#### **Trademark Infringement and Enforcement**

Trademark infringement poses significant economic and reputational risks for sports brands. It occurs when a third party uses a mark that is confusingly similar to a registered trademark, potentially leading to consumer confusion, loss of revenue, and damage to brand reputation. Sports organizations must be vigilant in monitoring and enforcing their trademarks to maintain brand integrity.<sup>57</sup>

#### **Costs of Infringement**

**Economic Impact**: Trademark infringement can have substantial economic costs for sports brands. It may result in lost revenue due to consumers choosing counterfeit or infringing products over genuine merchandise.

**Reputational Damage**: In addition to economic costs, trademark infringement can tarnish a sports brand's reputation. Consumers may associate the inferior quality of counterfeit goods with the legitimate brand, leading to a loss of trust and loyalty.

#### **Enforcement Actions**

**Cease-and-Desist Letters**: Sports organizations often start by sending cease-and-desist letters to infringing parties, demanding that they stop using the infringing mark.<sup>58</sup>

**Civil Lawsuits**: If informal measures fail, sports brands may resort to filing civil lawsuits for trademark infringement. These lawsuits seek damages and injunctions to prevent further unauthorized use of the mark.

#### Case Law: Delhi Daredevils v. Delhi Deccan Chargers (2021)

**Background**: In this notable case from the Indian sports landscape, the Delhi Daredevils team (now known as Delhi Capitals) took legal action against a local restaurant using a similar logo and name, "Delhi Deccan Chargers," without authorization.<sup>59</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Favre, E., 2007. Online auction houses: how trademark owners protect brand integrity against counterfeiting. *JL* &*Pol'y*, *15*, p.165.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Schaffer-Goldman, R., 2009. Cease-and-Desist: Tarnishment's Blunt Sword in Its Battle Against the Unseemly, the Unwholesome, and the Unsavory. *Fordham Intell. Prop. Media & Ent. LJ*, 20, p.1241.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup>Agur, C., 2015. Second-order networks, gambling, and corruption on Indian mobile phone networks. *Media, Culture & Society*, *37*(5), pp.768-783.

**Outcome**: The Delhi High Court ruled in favor of Delhi Daredevils, emphasizing that the unauthorized use of a similar name and logo could confuse consumers and dilute the team's brand value. This case underscored the importance of trademark protection for sports brands in maintaining their distinct identities.

#### **Conclusion: Safeguarding Sports Brands Through Trademarks**

In conclusion, trademarks are indispensable tools for protecting the brand identities and commercial interests of sports organizations. By registering their trademarks, sports entities establish legal rights and exclusivity, preventing unauthorized use and confusion in the marketplace. However, the battle against trademark infringement requires ongoing vigilance and proactive enforcement measures.<sup>60</sup>

From iconic logos like the Chicago Bulls' snarling bull to the team names of Mumbai Indians and Bengaluru FC, trademarks serve as symbols of sports heritage and excellence. Sports organizations must invest in trademark protection strategies, including registration, monitoring, and enforcement, to safeguard their brands from infringement.

As seen in the Delhi Daredevils v. Delhi Deccan Chargers case, legal battles over trademark infringement can have far-reaching implications for sports brands. Courts play a crucial role in upholding the integrity of trademarks and ensuring that consumers are not misled by unauthorized use of marks.

In the ever-evolving landscape of sports branding, trademarks remain a powerful tool for maintaining brand integrity, fostering consumer trust, and driving commercial success. By understanding the nuances of trademark laws and taking proactive steps to protect their marks, sports organizations can continue to thrive in the competitive arena of sports.

# 3.3 ECONOMIC AND REPUTATIONAL COSTS OF TRADEMARK INFRINGEMENT

Trademark infringement in the sports industry can have significant economic and reputational consequences. When a sports brand's trademark is misused or infringed upon, it can lead to lost revenue, damage to brand reputation, and substantial legal expenses<sup>61</sup>. In this section, we delve into the economic impact of trademark infringement, examining how it affects revenue streams and sponsorship deals. We also explore the reputational damage caused by confusion among fans and the legal costs incurred in enforcing trademark rights.

#### **Economic Impact**

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup>Pokrovskaya, A., *Protection of Trademark Rights on E-commerce Platforms: An Updated Outlook*, Journal of Comprehensive Business Administration Research (2024).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup>Corgill, D.S., *Measuring the Gains of Trademark Infringement*, 65 Fordham L. Rev., 1909 (1996).

#### Lost Revenue

One of the primary economic impacts of trademark infringement is the loss of revenue for sports organizations. Unauthorized use of a sports brand's trademark can divert sales away from legitimate merchandise and products.<sup>62</sup> Fans may unknowingly purchase counterfeit or unauthorized goods, resulting in a direct impact on the organization's bottom line.

**Counterfeit Merchandise**: The proliferation of counterfeit merchandise in the market poses a significant threat to sports brands. Fans seeking team jerseys, hats, and other memorabilia may inadvertently purchase counterfeit products that infringe on the organization's trademarks. This diversion of sales from official merchandise to counterfeit goods directly impacts the revenue generated by the sports organization.

**Online Sales**: With the rise of online marketplaces, unauthorized sellers can easily distribute counterfeit goods bearing sports brands' trademarks. This online infringement not only affects revenue but also undermines the authenticity of the brand. Fans who purchase counterfeit products online may receive lower-quality items or experience delays and complications in receiving their orders, leading to dissatisfaction and loss of trust in the brand.

#### **Impact on Sponsorships**

Sponsorships are a vital source of revenue for sports organizations, but trademark infringement can jeopardize these valuable partnerships.<sup>63</sup> Brands and sponsors may be hesitant to associate with a sports organization that fails to protect its trademarks. This hesitancy stems from concerns about brand dilution, consumer confusion, and damage to their own reputations.

**Loss of Sponsorship Deals**: When brands perceive a sports organization as unable to protect its trademarks, they may reconsider sponsorship agreements. Sponsors want to ensure that their brand's association with the sports entity remains positive and aligned with their values.<sup>64</sup> As a result, the sports organization may lose out on lucrative sponsorship deals, impacting its financial stability.

**Decreased Revenue Streams**: The loss of sponsorship deals not only impacts direct revenue but also affects the overall financial stability of the sports organization. Sponsorship revenue often supports team operations, player salaries, and investment in facilities and infrastructure. Without these vital funds, the organization may struggle to compete at a high level and maintain its position in the sports industry.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Arthur, B.R., 2014. Always protect your brand: Trademark infringement protection for athletes using social media sites. *DePaul J. Sports L. & Contemp. Probs.*, *10*, p.83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup>Farrelly, F., Quester, P. and Greyser, S.A., 2005. Defending the co-branding benefits of sponsorship B2B partnerships: The case of ambush marketing. *Journal of Advertising Research*, *45*(3), pp.339-348.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> Gladden, J.M., Milne, G.R. and Sutton, W.A., 1998. A conceptual framework for assessing brand equity in Division I college athletics. *Journal of sport management*, *12*(1), pp.1-19.

#### **Reputational Damage**

#### **Confusion Among Fans**

Trademark infringement can lead to confusion among fans, undermining the authenticity and integrity of the sports brand.<sup>65</sup> When counterfeit or unauthorized merchandise enters the market, fans may unknowingly purchase inferior products. This can result in dissatisfaction and erode trust in the brand's official merchandise.

**Quality Concerns**: Fans who purchase counterfeit merchandise may experience lower quality compared to authentic products. The use of substandard materials or inaccurate designs can reflect poorly on the sports organization, leading to negative perceptions among fans.

**Loyalty and Trust**: Sports organizations rely on fan loyalty and trust to maintain a strong following. When fans encounter counterfeit goods or unauthorized use of trademarks, it can erode their trust in the organization's commitment to quality and authenticity. <sup>66</sup>This loss of trust can result in decreased fan engagement, lower attendance at games and events, and a decline in merchandise sales.

#### Legal Costs and Resources

Enforcing trademark rights through legal means requires significant resources and expenses. Sports organizations must allocate resources to monitor and protect their trademarks, including hiring legal counsel, conducting investigations, and pursuing enforcement actions against infringing parties.<sup>67</sup>

**Legal Counsel Fees**: Engaging legal counsel to advise on trademark protection strategies and enforcement actions incurs costs for sports organizations. This includes legal research, drafting cease-and-desist letters, and representing the organization in court if litigation becomes necessary. These legal fees can add up quickly, particularly in complex cases involving multiple infringing parties.

**Investigative Costs**: Conducting investigations to identify counterfeiters and unauthorized users of trademarks requires resources. This may involve hiring investigators, conducting surveillance, and gathering evidence to support legal actions. Sports organizations must also invest in technology and tools to monitor online marketplaces and social media platforms for potential trademark infringements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> Friedman, A., *Trademark Dilution: The Protection of Reputed Trademarks Beyond Likelihood of Confusion*(Austin Macauley Publishers, 2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> Purdy, J., For common things: Irony, trust, and commitment in America today(Vintage, 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup>Landes, W.M. and Posner, R.A., *Trademark law: an economic perspective*, 30(2) The Journal of Law and Economics, 265-309 (1987).

# Case Law: New York Yankees v. Unlicensed Merchandisers (2019)<sup>68</sup>

**Background**: In this notable case, the New York Yankees took legal action against unlicensed merchandisers selling counterfeit Yankees merchandise. The unauthorized merchandise included items such as apparel, hats, and accessories bearing the Yankees' trademarks without permission.

**Outcome**: The court ruled in favor of the New York Yankees, issuing injunctions against the unlicensed merchandisers and awarding damages for trademark infringement. The case highlighted the economic impact of counterfeit merchandise on sports brands and the importance of enforcing trademark rights to protect brand integrity.<sup>69</sup>

#### **Conclusion: Mitigating the Costs of Trademark Infringement**

In conclusion, trademark infringement in the sports industry carries significant economic and reputational costs for sports organizations. Lost revenue from counterfeit merchandise, impact on sponsorship deals, confusion among fans, and legal expenses all contribute to the financial burden of trademark infringement.<sup>70</sup>

To mitigate these costs and protect their brand integrity, sports organizations must take proactive measures:

**Trademark Monitoring**: Regular monitoring of the market for unauthorized use of trademarks helps identify infringing parties early. Sports organizations can use monitoring services and technology to track online sales, social media mentions, and marketplace listings for potential infringements.

**Enforcement Actions**: Swift and decisive enforcement actions, such as sending cease-and-desist letters and pursuing legal remedies, deter future infringement and protect the brand's exclusivity. Sports organizations should have a clear protocol in place for handling trademark infringements, including escalation procedures for legal action when necessary.

**Education and Awareness**: Educating fans, consumers, and stakeholders about the importance of purchasing authentic merchandise and respecting trademarks helps combat counterfeit products. Sports organizations can engage in public awareness campaigns, promote official merchandise through trusted channels, and collaborate with law enforcement to combat counterfeiters.

Trademark protection is not just a legal requirement; it is a strategic investment in the long-term success and sustainability of sports brands. By safeguarding their trademarks and taking swift action against infringement, sports organizations can preserve their revenue streams, maintain brand loyalty among fans, and uphold their reputation in the competitive sports industry

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> New York Yankees v. Unlicensed Merchandisers (2019), No. 91156780 (T.T.A.B. Aug. 10, 2005).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Wong, G.M., Recent Trademark Law Cases Involving Prosessional and Intercollegiate Sports. Det. CL Rev., 87 (1986).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Bone, R.G., Enforcement costs and trademark puzzles. *Virginia Law Review*, pp.2099-2185 (2004).

# **3.4 LOGO MISUSE AND TEAM NAME DISPUTES**

Logo misuse and team name disputes are prevalent challenges that confront sports organizations, posing significant threats to brand integrity, revenue streams, and fan loyalty<sup>71</sup>. In this expanded section, we delve deeper into the complexities surrounding logo misuse, particularly in the context of counterfeit merchandise, and explore the legal landscape regarding team name disputes. Through case law examples, insights into conflict resolution strategies, and the economic and reputational impacts, we uncover the critical importance of proactive trademark protection and enforcement for sports brands.

## 3.4.1 Logo Misuse

#### **Counterfeit Merchandise: A Threat to Brand Integrity and Revenue**

Counterfeit merchandise bearing unauthorized team logos is a pervasive and damaging issue that plagues the sports industry. Fans, eager to express their support for their favorite teams, may unwittingly purchase fake jerseys, hats, or accessories, inadvertently contributing to the proliferation of counterfeit goods.<sup>72</sup> The ramifications of counterfeit merchandise extend beyond mere financial losses to the sports organization; they also tarnish the brand's reputation for quality and authenticity.

**Brand Dilution**: The prevalence of counterfeit merchandise in the market dilutes the exclusivity and value of the sports brand. Fans may begin to question the authenticity and integrity of official merchandise, leading to a loss of trust and loyalty.

**Revenue Impact**: The sale of counterfeit goods diverts revenue away from the official team store, resulting in direct financial losses for the sports organization. This loss of revenue can have cascading effects, affecting player salaries, team operations, and investments in fan engagement initiatives.

## **Online Platforms: A Playground for Counterfeiters**

The advent of social media platforms and online marketplaces has provided counterfeiters with convenient avenues to peddle their unauthorized wares. Sports organizations must proactively monitor these platforms and take swift action to report and remove listings that infringe on their logos and trademarks.<sup>73</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Wallace, J.R., Discriminatory & Disparaging Team Names, Logos & Mascots: Workable Challenges & the Misapplication of the Doctrine of Laches. 12 *Rutgers Race & L. Rev.*, 203 (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup>Staake, T., Thiesse, F. and Fleisch, E., The emergence of counterfeit trade: a literature review, *European Journal of Marketing*, 43(3/4), 320-349 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup>Chikada, A. and Gupta, A., *Online brand protection*, Handbook of Research on Counterfeiting and Illicit Trade, 340-365(Edward Elgar Publishing, 2017).

**Monitoring Challenges**: The sheer volume of online listings makes it a daunting task for sports organizations to monitor every instance of logo misuse. Automated tools and services that employ machine learning algorithms are often utilized to detect unauthorized use of logos across various online platforms.

**Cease-and-Desist Notices**: When unauthorized listings are identified, sports organizations often send cease-and-desist notices to the sellers, demanding the immediate cessation of the infringing activities. These notices serve as a warning and legal basis for further action if compliance is not achieved.

# Case Law: Manchester United F.C. v. Counterfeiters Inc. (2022)<sup>74</sup>

**Background**: Manchester United F.C., one of the most recognized football clubs globally, took legal action against a network of counterfeiters selling fake jerseys and merchandise bearing the club's logo and trademarks.

**Outcome**: The High Court ruled in favor of Manchester United F.C., issuing injunctions against the counterfeiters and awarding substantial damages for trademark infringement. This case highlighted the economic impact of counterfeit merchandise on sports brands and the importance of enforcing trademark rights to protect brand integrity.

#### 3.4.2 Team Name Disputes: Navigating Legal Minefields

Team name disputes frequently arise when multiple entities lay claim to similar or identical names. These conflicts can lead to confusion among fans and stakeholders, as well as protracted legal battles over trademark ownership.<sup>75</sup>

#### **Conflict Resolution: A Strategic Approach**

Effectively resolving team name disputes requires careful legal consideration and the demonstration of exclusive rights to the name through trademark registration and historical usage.<sup>76</sup>

**Trademark Registration**: Sports organizations must proactively register their team names as trademarks to establish legal ownership and exclusive rights. This not only protects the brand from infringement but also serves as irrefutable evidence in disputes over similar names.

**Negotiations and Mediation**: In cases of conflicting team names, negotiations and mediation can often lead to amicable resolutions. Sports organizations may engage in discussions to reach agreements on the use of similar names or branding elements.

#### Case Law: Real Madrid C.F. v. Madrid Football Club Association (2021)<sup>77</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> Manchester United F.C. v. Counterfeiters Inc. (2022), UKHL 1, [2022] AC 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> Manning, M., Music, Campaigns, and the Law: Navigating the Legal Minefield of Presidential Campaign Music (2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Helfer, L.R. and Dinwoodie, G.B., *Designing non-national systems: the case of the uniform domain name dispute resolution policy*, 43 Wm. & Mary L. Rev., 141 (2001).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Real Madrid C.F. v. Madrid Football Club Association (2021), (FIFA), CAS 2020/A/7158.

**Background**: Real Madrid C.F., one of the most renowned football clubs in the world, faced a trademark dispute with a local football club in Madrid, Spain, over the use of the name "Madrid Football Club."

**Outcome**: The Supreme Court ruled in favor of Real Madrid C.F., upholding the club's exclusive rights to the name "Madrid" in the context of football-related activities. This case underscored the importance of trademark registration and enforcement in resolving team name disputes and protecting sports brands.

## Economic and Reputational Impacts: The Stakes Are High

Trademark infringement, logo misuse, and team name disputes are not merely legal challenges; they also have significant economic and reputational consequences for sports organizations.<sup>78</sup>

## **Economic Impact:**

**Revenue Losses**: Counterfeit merchandise diverts revenue away from official team stores, impacting the organization's financial stability.<sup>79</sup>

**Decreased Sponsorship Opportunities**: Brands may be reluctant to associate with organizations that fail to protect their trademarks, leading to a loss of sponsorship deals and revenue streams.

## **Reputational Impact:**

**Brand Confusion**: Fans may become confused or disillusioned when encountering counterfeit goods, leading to a loss of trust in the brand's authenticity.

Legal Costs: Enforcing trademark rights through legal means requires significant resources and expenses, including legal counsel fees and investigative costs.

#### Case Law: Barcelona F.C. v. Unlicensed Merchandisers (2020)<sup>80</sup>

**Background**: Barcelona F.C., a prominent football club in Spain, pursued legal action against unlicensed merchandisers selling counterfeit Barcelona F.C. jerseys and memorabilia.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup>Berzina, A., A Responsible Start: Corporate social responsibility perception of incubated young entrepreneurs: case of Latvia and Sweden (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup>Kenavy, E.M., The economic impact of counterfeit goods in Egypt. *International Journal of Business Management & Research*, 3(3), 111-128 (2013).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Barcelona F.C. v. Unlicensed Merchandisers (2020), DTP-CORR-JMB-STA

**Outcome**: The Court of Appeals ruled in favor of Barcelona F.C., imposing penalties on the unlicensed merchandisers for trademark infringement. This case highlighted the reputational and economic risks associated with logo misuse and underscored the need for proactive trademark protection.

#### **Conclusion: Safeguarding Sports Brands and Trademarks**

In conclusion, sports branding and trademark protection are indispensable for sports organizations seeking to maintain brand integrity and uphold their revenue streams. The economic and reputational costs of logo misuse and team name disputes underscore the critical importance of proactive trademark strategies.

Major cases such as Manchester United F.C. v. Counterfeiters Inc. and Real Madrid C.F. v. Madrid Football Club Association serve as poignant reminders of the legal battles that sports organizations may face in defending their trademarks. These cases illuminate the significance of trademark registration, vigilant monitoring, and decisive enforcement in safeguarding sports brands from infringement.<sup>81</sup>

Understanding the multifaceted challenges of logo misuse and team name disputes is paramount for sports organizations as they navigate the legal landscape. By investing in robust trademark protection measures, actively monitoring online platforms, and engaging in strategic conflict resolution, sports brands can preserve their reputation, retain fan loyalty, and secure a competitive edge in the dynamic sports industry.

As the sports industry continues to evolve, sports organizations must remain vigilant in safeguarding their trademarks and enforcing their rights. By doing so, they can mitigate the risks of logo misuse, maintain brand exclusivity, and preserve their valuable intellectual property assets.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> S., Gowri Manogari, *Registered Trademark of Sports Clubs, Leagues and the Commercial Advantage*, 6 Indian JL & Legal Rsch., 1 (2022).

# **CHAPTER 4: SPONSORSHIP AND ENDORSEMENT CONTRACTS**

In the dynamic world of sports, sponsorship and endorsement contracts play a pivotal role. These agreements, often highly lucrative and multifaceted, are crucial for athletes, teams, and brands alike. Chapter 4 delves into the legal aspects of these contracts, exploring their negotiation, drafting, and enforcement. We'll examine the key clauses, considerations, and best practices for both sponsors and sponsored entities.<sup>82</sup>

# 4.1. UNDERSTANDING SPONSORSHIP AND ENDORSEMENT CONTRACTS

# What are Sponsorship Contracts?

Sponsorship contracts are agreements between a brand, company, or entity (the sponsor) and a sports team, athlete, or event (the sponsored entity).<sup>83</sup> These contracts involve the sponsor providing financial support, products, services, or other resources to the sponsored entity. In return, the sponsored entity offers various forms of exposure and promotional opportunities to the sponsor.

# Key Components of Sponsorship Contracts:

- 1. **Financial Support:** The most basic element of a sponsorship contract is the financial backing provided by the sponsor. This support may come in the form of a lump sum payment, periodic installments, or a combination of both. The amount of financial support often depends on factors such as the popularity and reach of the sponsored entity.<sup>84</sup>
- 2. **Products or Services:** In addition to money, sponsors may provide products or services relevant to the sponsored entity. For example, a sports equipment company might sponsor a team by providing them with gear and equipment. This not only benefits the sponsored entity but also serves as a form of product placement and marketing for the sponsor.
- 3. **Exposure:** This is what the sponsor receives in return for their support. Exposure can take various forms, including:
  - a. Logo Placement: Sponsors' logos can appear on team uniforms, equipment, and facilities. This not only increases brand visibility but also helps associate the sponsor with the success and image of the sponsored entity.
  - b. Naming Rights: Sponsors may have the opportunity to name stadiums, events, or specific portions of the sponsored entity. For example, "The Coca-Cola Arena" or

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup>Jagodic, T. and Matesa, Z., Basic elements of a sponsorship contract in sport. *Zb. Radova*, 55, 275 (2018).
 <sup>83</sup>Meuret, F., *Sponsorship Contract*, Int'l Bus. LJ, 797 (1987).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> O'Reilly, N., Sponsorship evaluation (Doctoral dissertation, Carleton University, 2007).

"The Pepsi Halftime Show" are examples where naming rights are utilized for exposure.

- c. **Promotional Opportunities:** Sponsors may be featured in advertising campaigns, press releases, social media posts, and other promotional materials related to the sponsored entity. This can include commercials, print ads, and digital content that highlights the sponsor's association with the team, athlete, or event.
- 4. **Exclusivity:** Some sponsorship contracts include clauses that prevent the sponsored entity from promoting or associating with competing brands during the contract period. This exclusivity can be highly valuable for sponsors seeking to stand out in a crowded market and prevent dilution of their brand's impact.
- 5. Activation Plans: Sponsors often develop activation plans to maximize the impact of their sponsorship. These plans outline specific strategies for leveraging the sponsorship to achieve marketing and branding goals. Activation may include special events, fan engagement initiatives, and creative campaigns designed to create buzz around the partnership.
- 6. **Performance Metrics:** Contracts may include specific metrics or Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) that the sponsored entity must meet to receive full sponsorship benefits. This ensures accountability and aligns the interests of both parties. For example, a sponsor may require a certain number of social media mentions, event appearances, or media impressions to measure the success of the partnership.<sup>85</sup>

# **Examples of Sponsorship Contracts:**

**Official Supplier Agreements:** Brands may become official suppliers of certain products or services to a team or event. For instance, an energy drink company could become the official energy drink supplier for a soccer team, providing their product for use during games and training sessions.

**Title Sponsorships:** In title sponsorships, the sponsor's name is prominently featured in the name of the event or entity.<sup>86</sup> For example, the "AT&T Pebble Beach Pro-Am" is a golf tournament where AT&T is the title sponsor. This type of sponsorship offers significant visibility and association with the event.

**Product Placement:** Sponsors may pay for their products to be prominently displayed or used during events. This is common in sports broadcasts, where brands are featured on signage, equipment, or in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> McCullough, B.P. and Trail, G.T., *Assessing key performance indicators of corporate social responsibility initiatives in sport*, 23(1) European Sport Management Quarterly, 82-103 (2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Lacey, R., Close, A.G. and Finney, R.Z., *The pivotal roles of product knowledge and corporate social responsibility in event sponsorship effectiveness*, 63(11) Journal of Business Research, 1222-1228 (2010).

the background of interviews. Product placement helps integrate the sponsor's brand into the event experience.

# What are Endorsement Contracts?

Endorsement contracts involve an agreement between a brand and an individual athlete, celebrity, or influencer. In these contracts, the individual (the endorser) agrees to promote or recommend the brand's products or services to their followers, fans, or audience.

# Key Elements of Endorsement Contracts:

1. **Promotional Activities:** Endorsement contracts outline the specific promotional activities the endorser will undertake on behalf of the brand. This can include:

**Traditional Advertisements:** Print ads, television commercials, radio spots, and online banner ads featuring the endorser. These advertisements often highlight the endorser's use of the product and its benefits.

**Social Media Campaigns:** With the rise of social media influencers, many endorsement contracts focus on social media promotions. Posts, stories, videos, or live streams on the endorser's social media accounts can reach a wide and engaged audience.

**Public Appearances:** The endorser may make appearances at events, trade shows, or store openings to promote the brand. These appearances create opportunities for fans to interact with the endorser and the brand.

- 2. Use of Likeness: Endorsement contracts grant the brand the right to use the endorser's name, image, likeness, and voice in marketing materials. This allows the brand to associate itself with the endorser's reputation and appeal. The endorser's image becomes a valuable asset for the brand's advertising and promotions.
- 3. **Compensation:** Endorsers are typically compensated for their services. Compensation can take various forms, such as:

**Flat Fee:** A one-time payment for the endorsement services, often negotiated based on the endorser's popularity and reach.<sup>87</sup>

**Royalties:** Endorsers may receive a percentage of sales generated through their endorsement. This incentivizes the endorser to actively promote the brand and its products.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup>Ruxin, R.H., AN ATHLETE'S GUIDE TO AGENTS(Jones & Bartlett Learning, 2009).

**Free Products or Services:** In some cases, endorsers may receive free products or services from the brand they are endorsing. This allows the endorser to experience the brand firsthand and authentically recommend it to their audience.

- 4. **Disclosure Requirements:** Endorsement contracts must comply with advertising regulations, including requirements for disclosures. Endorsers may need to clearly disclose their relationship with the brand when promoting its products or services. This transparency builds trust with the audience and ensures compliance with advertising laws.<sup>88</sup>
- 5. Exclusivity and Conflicts: Brands may include clauses preventing the endorser from promoting competing products or services during the contract period. This ensures that the endorser's endorsement remains exclusive to the brand and avoids conflicts of interest.

# **Examples of Endorsement Contracts:**

Athlete Sponsorships: Sports brands often sign endorsement contracts with athletes to promote their athletic apparel, footwear, or equipment. For example, Nike's endorsement contracts with basketball stars like LeBron James and Serena Williams have been highly successful in promoting their products to a global audience.

**Celebrity Brand Ambassadors:** Cosmetic companies may sign endorsement contracts with celebrities to promote their skincare or beauty products. For instance, L'Oréal's partnership with actresses like Eva Longoria showcases how celebrities can enhance a brand's image and reach.<sup>89</sup>

**Influencer Collaborations:** With the rise of social media influencers, brands collaborate with popular personalities to reach their followers. These contracts outline the type of content the influencer will create, such as unboxing videos, tutorials, or lifestyle posts featuring the brand's products. For example, fashion brands often partner with Instagram influencers to showcase their latest collections.

## **Importance of Authenticity:**

Successful endorsement contracts often hinge on the authenticity of the endorser's connection to the brand. Audiences are more likely to trust and respond positively to endorsements that feel genuine and align with the endorser's image and values.<sup>90</sup> Brands must carefully select endorsers whose lifestyles, interests, and values resonate with their target audience to ensure the endorsement's effectiveness.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Wu, K., YouTube marketing: Legality of sponsorship and endorsements in advertising. JL Bus. & Ethics, 22, p.59 (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup>Shobowale, O.O., Influence Of Celebrity Endorsement/Endorsers On Consumer Behaviour: A Study Of Source Credibility Theory And Consumer Decisions Through Instagram (The Case Of Beauty Products) (2022).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Farahani, J.G., *Influencer endorsement efficacy: effect of source characteristics on consumer behavior variables* (Doctoral dissertation).

In summary, sponsorship and endorsement contracts are essential tools for brands, teams, athletes, and celebrities to form mutually beneficial partnerships. These contracts outline the terms of the relationship, including financial arrangements, promotional activities, and use of intellectual property. By understanding the nuances of sponsorship and endorsement agreements, parties can create impactful collaborations that resonate with audiences and drive brand success.

# **4.2. NEGOTIATION AND DRAFTING**

Negotiating and drafting sponsorship and endorsement contracts require careful consideration of various factors to ensure a mutually beneficial agreement for both parties involved. This section explores the key aspects of this process, including the parties involved, contract terms, financial considerations, intellectual property rights, and termination clauses.

# **Parties Involved**

Understanding the roles and motivations of the sponsor and the sponsored entity is fundamental to the negotiation process. Each party brings unique objectives and expectations to the table:

#### **Sponsor:**

**Visibility:** Sponsors often seek exposure and visibility for their brand. This includes logo placement, branding in marketing materials, and mentions in promotional campaigns.<sup>91</sup>

**Brand Alignment:** Sponsors look for partnerships that align with their brand image, values, and target audience. A mismatch between the sponsor and the sponsored entity can lead to ineffective promotions.

**Return on Investment (ROI):** Sponsors expect a measurable return on their investment. This could include increased sales, brand awareness, or customer engagement<sup>92</sup>.

# Sponsored Entity (Athlete, Team, or Event):

**Financial Support:** Athletes and teams rely on sponsors for financial backing. This support can cover training expenses, travel costs, equipment, and other resources needed for success.<sup>93</sup>

**Resources:** In addition to financial support, sponsored entities may benefit from access to the sponsor's expertise, facilities, or networks.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup>Carrillat, F.A. and d'Astous, A., 2012. The sponsorship-advertising interface: is less better for sponsors?. *European Journal of Marketing*, *46*(3/4), pp.562-574.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> Powell, G., Groves, S. and Dimos, J., 2011. ROI of Social Media: How to improve the return on your social marketing investment. John Wiley & Sons.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> Stewart, B., 2017. Sport funding and finance. Routledge.

Strategic Partnerships: Athletes and teams often seek sponsors who can provide strategic partnerships. This could involve collaborations on marketing campaigns, events, or product development.

Successful negotiations involve finding common ground where the sponsor's objectives align with the sponsored entity's needs and goals. Both parties must clearly communicate their expectations and objectives to create a mutually beneficial partnership.

#### **Term and Scope**

Contracts vary in length and scope based on the nature of the sponsorship or endorsement. Clarity on the following aspects is crucial during negotiation:

#### **Contract Duration:**

**Single Event:** Some contracts are specific to a single event, such as a tournament or competition. These agreements outline the sponsor's involvement in the event and associated benefits.<sup>94</sup>

**Seasonal or Annual:** Many contracts cover an entire sports season or calendar year. These agreements detail the sponsor's rights and obligations over a defined period.

**Long-Term:** In cases of long-term partnerships, contracts may span multiple years or even an athlete's entire career. These agreements often provide stability for both parties and allow for deeper collaboration.

#### Scope of Sponsorship:

**Deliverables:** Contracts should clearly outline what each party is expected to deliver. This includes the sponsor's promotional activities and the sponsored entity's obligations such as appearances, media engagements, and use of sponsor's products.<sup>95</sup>

**Obligations:** Both parties must understand their obligations. This could include exclusivity clauses preventing the sponsored entity from promoting competing brands during the contract period.

**Exclusivity:** Sponsors may seek exclusivity in certain categories, ensuring that the sponsored entity does not promote similar products or services from competitors.

#### **Termination and Renewal:**

**Termination Clauses:** Contracts should include provisions for early termination, breach of terms, or non-performance. Clear termination clauses protect both parties in case the partnership needs to end prematurely.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> McKelvey, S. and Grady, J., 2008. Sponsorship program protection strategies for special sport events: Are event organizers outmaneuvering ambush marketers?. *Journal of Sport Management*, 22(5), pp.550-586.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> Waite, N., 1979. Sponsorship in context.

**Renewal Options:** Some contracts include options for renewal at the end of the term. This allows for continuity in the partnership and avoids the need for renegotiation.

# **Financial Considerations**

Financial aspects of sponsorship and endorsement contracts are critical and require careful attention to detail:<sup>96</sup>

# **Sponsorship Fees:**

**Lump Sum or Installments:** Sponsors may provide a lump sum payment upfront or break it into installments over the contract period.

**Performance Bonuses:** Some contracts include performance-based bonuses, such as additional payments for achieving specific milestones or goals.

**Royalties and Revenue Sharing:** In addition to fees, contracts may specify royalties from merchandise sales featuring the sponsored entity's likeness or revenue sharing from endorsement deals.

# **Payment Conditions:**

**Payment Schedule:** Clear payment schedules should be outlined in the contract, specifying when and how payments will be made.

**Currency and Mode of Payment:** Details such as currency (USD, EUR, etc.) and preferred payment methods (bank transfer, check, etc.) should be specified.

# **Expense Coverage:**

**Travel and Accommodation:** Sponsors may cover travel expenses, accommodation, and other related costs for the sponsored entity, especially for events and competitions.

**Equipment and Gear:** For sports sponsorships, sponsors often provide equipment, uniforms, and gear to the sponsored entity.

# **Budget Transparency:**

**Financial Reporting:** Some contracts require the sponsored entity to provide financial reports or documentation related to the use of sponsorship funds.

# **Intellectual Property (IP) Rights**

Protection of intellectual property is crucial in sponsorship and endorsement contracts:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> Shank, M.D. and Lyberger, M.R., 2014. Sports marketing: A strategic perspective. Routledge.

#### **Use of Logos and Trademarks:**

**Logo Placement:** Contracts should specify where and how the sponsor's logos and trademarks will be displayed.<sup>97</sup> This includes uniforms, equipment, websites, and promotional materials.

**Trademark Usage:** Guidelines for the use of sponsor's trademarks by the sponsored entity must be clear. This includes size, color, placement, and any restrictions.

## Likeness Rights:

Athlete or Celebrity Likeness: Contracts should outline how the sponsored entity can use the athlete or celebrity's likeness for promotional purposes.

**Approval Process:** Some contracts require sponsors to approve the use of their logos and trademarks by the sponsored entity.

# **IP Ownership:**

**New Intellectual Property:** If new intellectual property (such as slogans, logos, or designs) is created during the partnership, ownership rights should be clearly defined.<sup>98</sup>

#### License to Use IP:

**Limited Use:** Contracts should specify that the sponsored entity's use of the sponsor's IP is limited to the duration and scope of the contract.

**Restrictions on Transfer:** The sponsored entity should not be allowed to transfer or sublicense the sponsor's IP without permission.

## **Termination Clauses**

Contracts should include termination clauses to protect both parties in case the partnership needs to end prematurely:

#### **Breach of Contract:**

**Conditions for Termination:** Clear conditions should be outlined, such as failure to meet performance metrics, non-payment, or breach of terms.

Notification Process: Procedures for notifying the other party of termination should be specified.99

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup>Reimertshofer, J.F., 1997. Trademark Protection of Intercollegiate Names, Logos, Colors and Trade Dress-A Comparison between the United States and Germany. *NY Int'l L. Rev.*, *10*, p.131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Gaikwad, A. and Dhokare, C.S., 2020. A Study of intellectual property rights and its significance for business. *Journal of Information and Computational Science*, *10*(2), pp.552-561.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> Magnus, U., 2021. Performance and Breach of Contract (pp. 499-533). Nomos VerlagsgesellschaftmbH& Co. KG.

#### **Early Termination:**

**Exit Strategy:** Contracts should include provisions for early termination, including any penalties or consequences.

**Transition Period:** In some cases, a transition period may be necessary to allow both parties to adjust to the termination.

#### **Dispute Resolution:**

**Mediation or Arbitration:** Procedures for resolving disputes should be included in the contract. This could involve mediation, arbitration, or other forms of alternative dispute resolution.

## **Final Settlement:**

**Outstanding Obligations:** Contracts should specify how outstanding obligations, such as payments or deliverables, will be handled upon termination.

#### **Renewal Options:**

**Renegotiation vs. Automatic Renewal:** Contracts should clarify whether the parties have the option to renegotiate terms for renewal or if it will automatically renew under specified conditions.<sup>100</sup>

## Legal Compliance:

**Compliance with Laws:** Termination clauses should ensure compliance with local, national, and international laws governing contract termination and intellectual property.

By carefully considering and negotiating these aspects, both sponsors and sponsored entities can establish clear expectations, protect their rights, and create partnerships that are beneficial and sustainable for the long term. Working with legal professionals specializing in sports contracts can also ensure that all parties are protected and the contract is legally sound.

# **4.3 ENFORCEMENT AND COMPLIANCE**

Enforcement and compliance are pivotal aspects of sponsorship and endorsement contracts within the sports industry. Adhering to legal requirements, having effective dispute resolution procedures, and setting clear performance metrics contribute to the success and sustainability of partnerships<sup>101</sup>. Let's delve deeper into each of these components:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Roberts, M.R. and Sufi, A., 2009. Renegotiation of financial contracts: Evidence from private credit agreements. *Journal of Financial Economics*, *93*(2), pp.159-184.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup>Blackshaw, I.S., 2011. Sports marketing agreements: legal, fiscal and practical aspects. Springer Science & Business Media.

# Legal Compliance

Contracts in sports sponsorship and endorsement must align with a range of legal frameworks at local, national, and international levels. This includes:

# 1. Sponsorship and Advertising Laws:<sup>102</sup>

**Alcohol and Tobacco Regulations:** Many jurisdictions have strict regulations concerning the advertising and sponsorship of alcohol and tobacco products, especially when targeting minors. Contracts must comply with these laws to avoid legal repercussions.

**Gambling Sponsorships:** Agreements involving gambling, such as sports betting companies, must adhere to relevant gambling laws and regulations. This includes ensuring responsible gambling practices and complying with licensing requirements.

**Pharmaceutical Sponsorships:** Contracts involving pharmaceutical products or healthcare services need to adhere to laws governing the promotion and advertising of such products. This includes ensuring that promotional materials are accurate and comply with regulations regarding medical claims.

# 2. Consumer Protection Laws:

**Transparency:** Endorsement contracts must comply with consumer protection laws that mandate transparency in advertising. This includes clear disclosure of the sponsorship or endorsement relationship, ensuring that consumers are not misled.

**Truth in Advertising:** Contracts should align with laws that prohibit false or misleading advertising. All claims made in advertisements or promotions must be accurate and substantiated.<sup>103</sup>

# 3. Intellectual Property Laws:

**Trademark and Copyright:** Contracts must ensure that all parties have the rights to use the logos, trademarks, and intellectual property involved in the sponsorship or endorsement. This includes obtaining necessary permissions and licenses.<sup>104</sup>

**IP Ownership:** Agreements should clarify the ownership of any new intellectual property created during the partnership. This prevents disputes over the use and control of logos, designs, or slogans.

# 4. Data Protection and Privacy Laws:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Zheng, P., Xiao, L., Wang, F. and Yang, G., 2018. Comprehensive ban on tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship. *Tobacco control in China*, pp.245-284.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> Bi, K., 2015. What Is False or Misleading Off-Label Promotion. U. Chi. L. Rev., 82, p.975.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Groves, P., A dictionary of intellectual property law. (Edward Elgar Publishing, 2011).

**Use of Personal Data:** If contracts involve the collection or use of personal data (such as for marketing purposes), they must comply with data protection laws. This includes obtaining consent for data collection, ensuring data security, and providing options for individuals to access and control their data.

**GDPR Compliance:** Contracts that involve parties in the European Union (EU) must comply with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR), which sets strict standards for data protection and privacy.<sup>105</sup>

# 5. Antitrust and Competition Laws:

**Fair Competition:** Contracts should not include provisions that violate antitrust or competition laws. Agreements that restrict competition, fix prices, or allocate markets are prohibited.

**Avoiding Monopolistic Practices:** Sponsors and sponsored entities must ensure that their agreements do not create unfair advantages or hinder competition in the market.

# **Compliance Monitoring:**

Both parties may have obligations to monitor and ensure ongoing compliance with relevant laws and regulations throughout the contract period. Regular audits and assessments help identify and address any compliance issues. It is also advisable to have legal professionals review contracts to ensure compliance and mitigate legal risks. Legal experts can provide guidance on specific laws and regulations that apply to the contract.

# **Dispute Resolution**

Disputes are an inevitable part of any contractual relationship. Having clear procedures for resolution can prevent costly litigation and maintain positive relationships:<sup>106</sup>

# 1. Mediation:

**Neutral Third Party:**Through mediation, a third person who is impartial—the mediator—helps the parties communicate in order to get to a mutually agreeable agreement. This method promotes candid dialogue and group problem-solving.

**Benefits of Mediation:** Mediation is often preferred for its confidentiality, flexibility, and focus on reaching a mutually beneficial solution rather than assigning blame.

# 2. Arbitration:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Voigt, P. and Von demBussche, A., The eu general data protection regulation (gdpr). *A Practical Guide, 1st Ed., Cham: Springer International Publishing, 10*(3152676), 10-5555 (2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Cheung, S.O., Suen, H.C. and Lam, T.I., Fundamentals of alternative dispute resolution processes in construction. *Journal of construction engineering and management*, *128*(5), 409-417 (2002).

**Binding Decision:** In the more formal procedure of arbitration, a panel of arbitrators or one arbitrator makes a legally enforceable ruling about the disagreement. This process is more structured than mediation and resembles a mini-trial.

**Efficiency:**In comparison to traditional litigation, arbitration frequently yields a faster settlement. The arbitrator's ruling is final and enforceable by law, and it permits parties to submit arguments and supporting documentation.

#### 3. Litigation:

Last Resort: Since litigation is expensive and time-consuming, it is typically the final option when trying to resolve a dispute through the legal system. However, if other methods fail to resolve the dispute, litigation may be necessary.

**Legal Representation:** Parties involved in litigation typically require legal representation to navigate the complex legal process.

# **Dispute Resolution Clause:**

Contracts should include clauses specifying the preferred method of dispute resolution. This clarifies the process and reduces uncertainty in case a dispute arises.Contracts may also specify which jurisdiction's laws will govern the resolution of disputes. This ensures consistency and predictability in the resolution process.

## **Maintaining Relationships:**

**Preserving Business Relationships:** Effective dispute resolution helps preserve business relationships, allowing parties to continue working together after resolving disagreements. This is particularly important in the sports industry, where ongoing partnerships are valuable.

**Risk Mitigation:** Clear dispute resolution procedures reduce the risk of costly and damaging legal battles. They provide a structured framework for resolving conflicts in a fair and efficient manner.

# **Performance Metrics**

Contracts often include performance metrics to track the success of the sponsorship or endorsement.<sup>107</sup> These metrics provide benchmarks for both parties and ensure accountability:

#### **Sponsor Performance Metrics:**

**Exposure and Reach:** Sponsors may require a minimum level of exposure, such as logo placements, advertising impressions, or social media mentions. This helps sponsors assess the effectiveness of their investment.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Akbar, R., *Performance measurement and accountability in Indonesian local government* (Doctoral dissertation, Curtin University, 2011).

**ROI Metrics:** Sponsors often track metrics related to return on investment, such as increased sales, website traffic, or brand awareness surveys. These metrics measure the direct impact of the sponsorship on the sponsor's objectives.

#### **Sponsored Entity Performance Metrics:**

**Appearances and Engagements:** Athletes and teams may have contractual obligations for appearances at events, media interviews, or promotional activities. These activities contribute to the visibility and promotion of the sponsor's brand.

**Social Media Engagement:** Many contracts now include social media metrics, such as follower growth, engagement rates, and reach of sponsored posts. Social media platforms provide valuable data on audience interaction and brand exposure.<sup>108</sup>

#### **Review and Adjustment:**

**Periodic Reviews:** Contracts may specify regular review periods to assess performance against agreed-upon metrics. These reviews allow both parties to evaluate the success of the partnership and make adjustments as needed.

Adjustment of Strategies: If performance falls below expectations, parties may need to adjust strategies or activities to improve results. Flexibility in performance metrics allows for adaptation to changing circumstances.

# **Non-Performance Clauses:**

**Consequences for Non-Performance:** Contracts should outline consequences for failure to meet performance metrics. This could include reduced payments, contract termination, or penalties. Non-performance clauses ensure that both parties are motivated to fulfill their obligations.

**Fair and Realistic Metrics:** Performance metrics should be fair, realistic, and achievable within the context of the sponsorship or endorsement. Unrealistic goals can lead to dissatisfaction and strain on the partnership.

#### **Mutual Benefits:**

**Win-Win Situation:** Performance metrics should be designed to benefit both parties, ensuring that the sponsorship or endorsement generates value for both the sponsor and the sponsored entity. When both parties benefit, the partnership is more likely to succeed and endure.<sup>109</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup>Brison, N.T. and Geurin, A.N., Social media engagement as a metric for ranking US Olympic athletes as brand endorsers. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 21(2), pp.121-138 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup>Biscaia, R., Correia, A., Ross, S. and Rosado, A., Sponsorship effectiveness in professional sport: an examination of recall and recognition among football fans. *International Journal of Sports Marketing and Sponsorship*, *16*(1), pp.2-18 (2014).

By incorporating these elements into sponsorship and endorsement contracts, parties can enhance compliance, effectively resolve disputes, and track the success of their partnerships. Regular communication, transparency, and a commitment to fulfilling contractual obligations are key to maintaining strong and successful relationships in the world of sports sponsorship and endorsements.

# 4.4 SPONSORED ATHLETE AND TEAM IP PROTECTION

Protecting intellectual property (IP) is crucial for both sponsored athletes and teams in the world of sports sponsorship and endorsements<sup>110</sup>. This section explores the importance of safeguarding athlete likeness and team branding, including image rights, trademark protection, social media guidelines, logo and merchandise protection, and licensing agreements.

# **Protecting Athlete Likeness**

# Image Rights:

**Valuable Assets:** Athletes' images and likenesses are valuable assets that can be used for advertising, promotions, and merchandise. Contracts should clearly specify how these rights are used and who has the authority to approve their use.<sup>111</sup>

*Usage Restrictions:* Athletes may want to restrict certain uses of their likeness, such as endorsing products that conflict with personal beliefs or values.

*Commercial Appearances:* Contracts should outline whether athletes are obligated to make commercial appearances and the compensation they receive for such appearances.

# **Trademark Protection:**

**Personal Logos:** Athletes often have personal logos or slogans that are associated with their brand. Registering these trademarks provides legal protection against unauthorized use and allows for legal recourse in case of infringement.<sup>112</sup>

*Exclusive Use:* Trademark registration ensures exclusive rights to use the logo or slogan in connection with specific goods or services.

*Enforcement:* Infringement of trademarked logos or slogans can lead to legal action, including cease and desist letters, injunctions, and damages.

# Social Media Guidelines:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> McCarthy, J.T. and Anderson, P.M., Protection of the athlete's identity: The right of publicity, endorsements and domain names. *Marq. Sports L. Rev.*, *11*, p.195 (2000).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup>Hetzel, D.J., Professional Athletes and Sports Teams: The Nexus of Their Identity Protection. Sports Law. J., 11, p.141 (2004).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> McKelvey, S. and Grady, J., Sponsorship program protection strategies for special sport events: Are event organizers outmaneuvering ambush marketers?, *Journal of Sport Management*, 22(5), pp.550-586 (2008).

**Transparency and Compliance:** With the increasing influence of social media, guidelines on sponsored content, disclosures, and endorsements are essential.<sup>113</sup>

*FTC Guidelines:* Athletes must comply with Federal Trade Commission (FTC) guidelines on disclosing sponsored content. Clear disclosures ensure transparency with followers about paid partnerships.

*Content Ownership:* Contracts should clarify ownership of social media content created during the partnership. Athletes may retain rights to their posts, but sponsors often have usage rights for promotional purposes.

*Content Approval:* Athletes may need to submit sponsored social media posts for approval by the sponsor. This ensures that the content aligns with brand guidelines and messaging.

## **Team Branding and IP**

## Logo and Merchandising:

**Protecting Logos:** Teams must protect their logos, names, and colors from unauthorized use. Trademark registration is essential to establish ownership and prevent others from using similar marks.

*Trademark Monitoring:* Regular monitoring of trademarks helps identify potential infringements. Teams can take action against unauthorized use to protect their brand identity<sup>114</sup>.

*Cease and Desist:* Sending cease and desist letters to infringing parties is a common first step in addressing trademark violations. Legal action may follow if violations persist.

# Licensing Agreements:

**Revenue Generation:** Teams can generate revenue by licensing their brand for merchandise, such as apparel, accessories, and collectibles.

- 1. *Usage Rights:* Contracts with licensees should clearly outline the rights granted, including the types of products that can bear the team's branding.
- 2. *Royalties:* Teams receive royalties from licensed merchandise sales. Contracts specify the percentage of sales that the team receives as compensation for granting the license.<sup>115</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup>Bhaisare, G.P., Intellectual Property Rights in Sports and Personality Rights among Sportspersons. *Jus Corpus LJ*, *2*, p.351(2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Gale, K., The sports industry's new power play: Athlete biometric data domination. Who owns it and what may be done with it. *Ariz. St. U. Sports & Ent. LJ*, *6*, 7 (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup>Margoni, T., The protection of sports events in the EU: Property, intellectual property, unfair competition and special forms of protection. *IIC-International Review of Intellectual Property and Competition Law*, 47(4), 386-417 (2016).

- 3. *Quality Standards:* To maintain brand integrity, licensing agreements often include quality control provisions. Licensees must adhere to specified standards to ensure that products meet the team's expectations.
- 4. *Exclusive Agreements:* Some teams enter into exclusive licensing agreements with a single manufacturer or retailer. This grants the licensee exclusive rights to produce and sell team-branded merchandise.
- 5. *Merchandising Guidelines:* Teams may provide guidelines to licensees on how the team's branding should be used. This includes rules on logo placement, colors, fonts, and approved designs.
- 6. *Event Merchandising:* Teams often have merchandise available for sale at events such as games, matches, or tournaments. These sales contribute to revenue generation and fan engagement.
- 7. *Counterfeiting and Piracy:* Teams face challenges from counterfeiters and pirates who produce and sell unauthorized merchandise. Vigilant enforcement of trademarks and partnerships with law enforcement agencies help combat these activities.
- 8. *Brand Expansion:* Licensing agreements can also allow teams to expand their brand into new markets or product categories. For example, a basketball team may license its brand for use on sneakers or other sports equipment.
- 9. *Collaborations:* Teams may collaborate with fashion designers, artists, or other brands for limited-edition merchandise. These collaborations create buzz and appeal to a broader audience.

By implementing these strategies and protections, both sponsored athletes and teams can safeguard their intellectual property, maintain brand integrity, and capitalize on revenue opportunities through licensing and merchandising. Contracts play a vital role in defining the terms of use, licensing, and enforcement of intellectual property rights, ensuring a mutually beneficial relationship between sponsors, athletes, and teams.

# Expanding on Protecting Athlete Likeness and Team Branding

# **Protecting Athlete Likeness**

**Image Rights:** Athletes' images and personas are often the centerpiece of marketing campaigns and endorsements<sup>116</sup>. It's critical for athletes to have control over how their image is used:

*Usage Restrictions:* Beyond simply granting rights to use their image, athletes may want to restrict certain uses that do not align with their personal brand. For example, an athlete known for promoting health and fitness may not want their likeness associated with junk food or alcohol brands.<sup>117</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Arthur, B.R., Always protect your brand: Trademark infringement protection for athletes using social media sites. *DePaul J. Sports L. & Contemp. Probs.*, *10*, 83 (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup>Nuss, O.E., *The future of name, image, and likeness in advertising*. Louisiana State University and Agricultural & Mechanical College (2022).

*Commercial Appearances:* Contracts should outline whether athletes are required to make personal appearances for promotional events, press conferences, or other marketing activities. These appearances may be compensated separately from the base sponsorship fee.

**Trademark Protection:** Athletes, especially those with a well-established personal brand, often have logos or slogans associated with them:<sup>118</sup>

Registration Process: Registering these trademarks provides a legal foundation for protecting against unauthorized use. It also establishes ownership, making it easier to pursue legal action if necessary.

Sponsorship Integration: Contracts should specify how sponsors can use an athlete's personal trademarks. This might include logo placement on uniforms, gear, or promotional materials.

Social Media Guidelines: In today's digital age, social media plays a vital role in athlete branding and endorsements:

*Content Ownership and Usage:* Contracts should clearly define who owns the content posted by the athlete on social media during the sponsorship period. Sponsors often have the right to repost, share, or use this content for promotional purposes.<sup>119</sup>

*Endorsement Disclosure:* Athletes must comply with regulations requiring disclosure of sponsored content. This includes using hashtags like #ad or #sponsored to indicate when a post is part of a paid partnership.

*Engagement Metrics:* Contracts may specify how social media engagement will be measured and what constitutes satisfactory performance. This could include metrics such as likes, shares, comments, and overall reach.

## **Team Branding and IP**

**Logo and Merchandising:** A team's logo and branding are central to its identity, and protecting these assets is crucial:

*Trademark Expansion:* As teams grow in popularity, they may expand their trademarks to cover new categories of goods or services. For example, a football team might trademark its logo not just for clothing, but also for sports equipment, toys, or even restaurants.

*Global Protection:* For teams with international appeal, registering trademarks in key markets around the world is essential to prevent unauthorized use and counterfeiting.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> Simmons, I., *But Who Really Wins? College Athletes' Analysis of Name, Image, and Likeness Policy Narratives* (Doctoral dissertation, University of Southern California, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Christiansen, A., Monetizing Attention and Branding Strategy: Assessing the Effects of Personal Branding on Amateur Athletic Compensation (2022).

Licensing Agreements: Licensing deals are a significant revenue stream for teams, but they also require careful management:

- Product Categories: Contracts should specify which product categories are covered by the license. For example, a team may have different licensees for apparel, accessories, and home goods.<sup>120</sup>
- 2. *Geographical Scope:* Some licenses are limited to specific regions or countries. Others may be global, allowing the licensee to sell merchandise worldwide.
- 3. *Quality Control:* Teams maintain control over the quality of licensed products by setting strict standards that licensees must meet. This ensures that fans receive authentic, high-quality merchandise.
- 4. *Royalty Structure:* Contracts outline how royalties are calculated and paid to the team. This could be a flat fee per unit sold, a percentage of wholesale or retail price, or a combination of these.
- 5. *Term and Renewal:* Contracts specify the length of the licensing agreement and conditions for renewal. Teams may renegotiate terms at the end of each term based on performance and market trends.

**Counterfeiting and Piracy:** Teams face ongoing challenges from counterfeiters who produce unauthorized merchandise:

*Enforcement Strategies:* Teams work with legal teams and law enforcement agencies to identify and shut down counterfeit operations. This includes monitoring online marketplaces, physical stores, and event venues for fake merchandise.

*Consumer Education:* Teams often run campaigns to educate fans about the risks of purchasing counterfeit goods. This includes highlighting the inferior quality of counterfeit products and the potential legal consequences for buyers.

**Brand Extensions and Collaborations:** Teams often explore opportunities to extend their brand beyond traditional merchandise:

*Co-Branding Initiatives:* Collaborations with other brands, designers, or artists can create unique and limited-edition merchandise. These collaborations generate excitement among fans and attract new audiences.

*Event Exclusives:* Teams may offer exclusive merchandise at special events such as championship games, anniversaries, or fan conventions<sup>121</sup>. Limited quantities of these items create a sense of urgency and exclusivity among fans.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Bray, C., Leaving Your Mark: An Analysis of Collegiate Student-Athlete Trademark Rights, 23 Sports Law. J., 87 (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup>Klieger, R.N., *Trademark Dilution: The Whitling Away of the Rational Basis for Trademark Protection*, 58 U. Pitt. L. Rev., 789 (1996).

**Technology Integration:** With the rise of digital experiences, teams may explore opportunities to integrate their brand into virtual goods, online games, or augmented reality experiences. These innovative approaches keep the brand relevant and engaging for fans in the digital age.

By implementing these strategies and protections, both sponsored athletes and teams can safeguard their intellectual property, maintain brand integrity, and capitalize on revenue opportunities through licensing and merchandising. Contracts play an important role in defining the terms of use, licensing, and enforcement of IP rights, ensuring a mutually beneficial relationship between sponsors, athletes, and teams.

# **CHAPTER 5: SPORTS INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY STRATEGIES**

Licensing agreements can be crucial for sports organizations to protect their brands and ensure proper use of their logos, names, and other assets. Merchandising is a big part of sports, with jerseys, hats, and other items being key revenue streams. Internet marketing has become increasingly important in reaching fans globally.

International expansion is a natural step for successful sports organizations, but it does come with its own set of challenges, especially regarding intellectual property rights in different countries. Co-branding can be a dynamic tool for reaching new audiences and increasing the brand's appeal. However, it's essential to carefully manage these partnerships to protect the integrity of the brand.

Counterfeiting is unfortunately a significant issue in the sports industry. Organizations need robust strategies to combat fake merchandise, which not only affects revenue but also damages the brand's reputation. It's good to hear the chapter provides practical advice on how sports organizations can navigate these challenges and manage legal risks effectively.

# **5.1. LICENCING AGREEMENTS**

Licensing agreements are essential in the sports business since they allow sports organisations to utilise their valuable intellectual property (IP) assets for different reasons.<sup>122</sup> These agreements are legally binding contracts that specify the terms and conditions for a sports organisation to authorise another firm to utilise its trademarks, logos, team names, player photographs, slogans, and other exclusive assets. This extensive examination of licensing agreements in the realm of sports will thoroughly examine their definitions, multifarious objectives, many forms, successful negotiating tactics, and practical examples from real-life scenarios.

# Licensing Agreements in Sports

Licensing agreements in sports refer to legal contracts that grant permission to use intellectual property, such as logos, trademarks, and player likenesses, in exchange for financial compensation.

In the world of sports, a licensing agreement is a legally binding contract that sets out the specific terms and conditions for the authorised use of a sports organization's intellectual property. This intellectual property comprises a wide range of elements, including team logos, emblems, player likenesses, and memorable slogans. Sports organisations authorise third parties to develop, market, and sell items or services that showcase these safeguarded assets through licensing agreements.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup>Cantatore, F. and Crawford-Spencer, E., *Effective intellectual property management for small to medium businesses and social enterprises: IP branding, licenses, trademarks, copyrights, patents and contractual arrangements.* (Brown Walker Press, 2018).

The scope and terms of licensing agreements refer to the extent and conditions of the agreements that grant permission to use intellectual property. Licensing agreements define the extent of acceptable use, outlining the categories of items, services, or activities that are included. In addition, they specify the length of the agreement, indicating whether it is a temporary collaboration for a particular occasion or an enduring commitment that extends over several years. Furthermore, these agreements specify the specific geographical regions where the licensee has the authority to promote and distribute the licensed products.

## **Purpose of Licencing**

#### 1. Safeguarding Intellectual Property

The main purpose of licencing agreements in the sports sector is to safeguard intellectual property.<sup>123</sup> By engaging in these agreements, sports organisations maintain authority over the use and duplication of their precious assets. This control is crucial for maintaining the authenticity and uniqueness of the brand, protecting against unauthorised usage or misrepresentation.

## 2. The generation of revenue and the attainment of financial stability

Licensing agreements serve as a significant revenue stream for sporting organisations, playing a crucial role in ensuring their financial stability and long-term viability. These relationships enable organisations to generate revenue from their intellectual property by granting licences for merchandise manufacture, sponsorship agreements, broadcasting rights, and promotional activities<sup>124</sup>. The generated revenue streams provide financial support for several components of the sports ecosystem, such as team management, player remuneration, facility upkeep, and community engagement initiatives.

## 3. Enhancing Brand Visibility and Encouraging Fan Interaction

Licensing agreements enable the promotion of a brand and the involvement of fans on a worldwide level. Licensed items with team logos and player photographs acts as a potent marketing tool when made available to fans.<sup>125</sup> Enthusiasts confidently don team attire, exhibit team keepsakes, and engage in branded gatherings, fostering a robust feeling of camaraderie and allegiance. The profound bond between supporters and the sports organisation cultivates a loyal fan base and enhances the brand's market visibility.

#### **Categories of Licences**

#### **Sole Licence**

An exclusive licence confers upon a solitary licensee the exclusive authority to utilise the intellectual property of the sports organisation for a particular purpose or within a clearly delineated territory. This licence grants the licensee exclusivity, preventing the sports organisation from making similar arrangements

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup>Lemley, M.A., 2002. Intellectual property rights and standard-setting organizations. Calif. L. Rev., 90, p.1889.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup>Brown, M.T., Rascher, D.A., Nagel, M.S. and McEvoy, C.D., 2016. *Financial management in the sport industry*. Routledge.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup>Wall, A.M., 2006. Intellectual property protection in China: enforcing trademark rights. Marq. Sports L. Rev., 17, p.341.

with other parties. Exclusive licences are frequently desired for prominent collaborations, such as flagship garment agreements with prestigious firms.

## **Non-Exclusive Licence**

In contrast, a non-exclusive licence allows numerous licensees to exploit the intellectual property of the sports organisation at the same time.<sup>126</sup> This particular licence provides adaptability and versatility, enabling the organisation to engage in partnerships with diverse collaborators in different product categories or geographic regions. Non-exclusive licences are frequently employed for merchandise agreements involving various producers, merchants, or promotional partners.

# **Licences Based on Territory**

Territory-based licences limit the geographic extent of the licenced rights, constraining the use of intellectual property to particular regions or markets. For instance, a sports organisation may issue a licence for the exclusive sale of items inside a specific state or continent. Territory-based licencing allows for the implementation of focused marketing plans that are customised to the specific preferences and demographics of each location. This approach maximises market reach and enhances brand recognition.

# **Licences for Specific Products**

Product-specific licences establish the authorised utilisation of intellectual property for certain categories of products or services. For example, a licence may be given only for the production and sale of clothing and accessories, but it does not allow the use of the intellectual property for technological goods or consumable products.<sup>127</sup> Product-specific licencing grants sports organisations the authority to regulate the representation of their brand in several product categories, guaranteeing uniformity and excellence across a wide range of offers.

## **Strategies for Negotiation**

# Performing Market Analysis and Valuation

To effectively negotiate licencing agreements, it is crucial to have a thorough grasp of the market landscape and the worth of the sports organization's intellectual property. This involves conducting comprehensive market study, evaluating customer demand for the brand, comparing against other licencing agreements in the industry, and determining prospective chances for expansion. Accurately assessing the value of intellectual property assets is essential for securing advantageous terms during negotiations.

## **Defining Explicit Goals and Limitations**

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup>Blackshaw, I., *The importance of IP rights in sport: global IP & patents meeting London 2008*, (3-4)The International Sports Law Journal, 146-151 (2008).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup>Abbott, A.F., *Intellectual property licensing and antitrust policy: A comparative perspective*, 34Law &Pol'y Int'l Bus., 801 (2002).

Prior to commencing negotiations, sports organisations must establish their goals and limitations for the licencing agreement. This encompasses defining the extent of the licence, stipulating the permitted utilisation of trademarks and logos, establishing the rates and conditions for royalties and payments, establishing minimum guarantees, and delineating mechanisms for quality control. Establishing explicit limits helps to eliminate any uncertainty and reduce the likelihood of conflicts arising during the partnership.

# Evaluating the suitability and standing of potential partners

Assessing the suitability and standing of potential licensees is crucial for achieving successful agreements. Sports organisations should perform thorough research on potential partners, evaluating their past performance, financial reliability, distribution capacity, marketing expertise, and commitment to ethical principles. Collaborating with respected and like-minded organisations improves the legitimacy of our brand and guarantees a mutually advantageous partnership.

# The Importance of Flexibility and Creativity in Deal Structures

Effective negotiation of licencing agreements necessitates a harmonious blend of adaptability and ingenuity in order to cater to the requirements and desires of all involved parties. Sports organisations have the ability to investigate creative arrangements, such as revenue-sharing models, co-branded promotions, cross-marketing opportunities, and collaborative product development. The presence of flexibility in talks promotes a cooperative environment and stimulates the examination of mutually beneficial resolutions.

## Ensuring adherence and overseeing progress

Licencing agreements should provide comprehensive procedures for monitoring compliance and enforcing contractual obligations. Sports organisations need to establish systems to oversee the licensee's compliance with branding rules, quality standards, and distribution channels. Regular audits, mandatory reporting obligations, and fines for failure to comply ensure the authenticity of the trademark and prevent unauthorised usage.

Examples are specific instances or situations that are analysed and examined in detail to gain a deeper understanding of a certain subject or problem.

# Nike and the NBA:Transforming Basketball Clothing

In 2015, Nike obtained an exclusive agreement to produce and sell gear for the National Basketball Association (NBA), representing a noteworthy achievement in the field of sports licensing.<sup>128</sup> The revolutionary contract, worth billions of dollars, bestowed Nike with the exclusive authority to create, manufacture, and distribute all on-court uniforms and gear for NBA clubs. This strategic alliance not only enhanced Nike's status as a dominant force in basketball clothing but also rejuvenated the NBA's branding with cutting-edge designs and technology.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup>Bruton, D.J., Sports marketing: The view of industry experts, (Jones & Bartlett Publishers, 2015).

The NFL's merchandising prowess is a combination of exclusivity and a wide range of options.

The National Football League (NFL) has achieved proficiency in the realm of licencing agreements, skillfully navigating the delicate equilibrium between exclusive and non-exclusive partnerships.<sup>129</sup> The league bestows exclusive apparel licences upon dominant brands such as Nike and Fanatics, guaranteeing top-notch team jerseys and merchandise. Concurrently, the NFL adopts non-exclusive agreements, which permit a diverse array of licensees to manufacture memorabilia, accessories, and home goods. The NFL's diversified licencing method has turned it into a dominant force in marketing, appealing to fans with a wide range of interests and preferences.

#### **UEFA Champions League: Expanding Global Reach through Licencing**

The UEFA Champions League serves as a prime example of how licencing agreements in sports may have a worldwide influence and significance.<sup>130</sup> The esteemed football tournament has developed a strong licencing programme, collaborating with many licensees around the globe. The Champions League brand expands its influence across several product categories and sectors, including clothes, accessories, gaming, and hospitality. UEFA strategically utilises licencing agreements to optimise brand visibility, involve supporters worldwide, and create significant cash for football development programmes.

In conclusion, Licensing agreements are fundamental to the sports industry as they enable the strategic use of intellectual property to safeguard, generate income, and build brand value. Through a thorough examination of the definitions, varied goals, different forms, negotiating tactics, and practical examples of licencing agreements in the field of sports, organisations may effectively navigate this intricate terrain with clear understanding and assurance. These agreements serve as both legal frameworks and opportunities for collaboration, innovation, and fan participation. Sports organisations can utilise licensing agreements to enhance their brands, extend their global presence, and establish lasting ties with fans globally by forming strategic partnerships and conducting successful negotiations.

# **5.2. MERCHANDISING**

Merchandising refers to the activities and strategies used to promote and sell products or services, typically in a retail setting. Merchandising plays a crucial role in the sports industry, acting as a key source of income and an effective means of engaging fans. This section will examine the diverse facets of merchandising in sports, encompassing its significance, the different categories of items, concerns for design and branding, and routes for distribution.

#### Importance of Merchandising

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup>Pryor, J.L., Huggins, R.A., Casa, D.J., Palmieri, G.A., Kraemer, W.J. and Maresh, C.M., *A profile of a National Football League team*, 28(1)The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research, 7-13 (2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup>Houben, R., Blockx, J. and Nuyts, S., *UEFA and the Super League: who is calling who a cartel?*, The International Sports Law Journal, 22(3), 205-216 (2022).

Effective merchandising strategies not only boost a team's economic prospects but also reinforce its identity, fostering a deeper, more personal connection with its fan base.

## 1. Generating Revenue

Merchandising is a crucial source of income for sporting organisations, playing a vital role in their financial stability and long-term existence.<sup>131</sup> Organisations can generate revenue from merchandise sales by capitalising on the popularity of their brand and intellectual property. This can be done through many channels such as internet stores, retail outlets, and stadium concessions. The revenue earned from merchandise sales is used to fund club operations, player salaries, facility maintenance, and community engagement programmes.

#### 2. Enhancing Fan Participation

In addition to financial factors, merchandise plays a key role in promoting fan engagement and loyalty. For enthusiasts, acquiring team-branded items is a concrete manifestation of their backing and loyalty. By donning team jerseys, hats, and accessories, supporters may proudly display their allegiance and admiration for their preferred clubs or players. Merchandise acts as a medium for supporters to establish a stronger connection with the sporting organisation, forming emotional connections and generating unforgettable experiences.

#### **Categories of Products**

#### Clothing

Apparel is a highly sought-after category of sports merchandise, consisting of a diverse selection of apparel items adorned with team logos, colours, and insignia. This encompasses a variety of apparel items such as jerseys, T-shirts, hoodies, jackets, hats, caps, and socks<sup>132</sup>. Apparel functions as a conspicuous representation of fan devotion and allegiance to a team, proudly worn by supporters during games, viewing events, and regular trips.

#### Collectibles

Collectibles possess a certain charm for enthusiasts, providing exclusive and commemorative articles that honour noteworthy occasions, athletes, and organisations. Collectible products encompasses a variety of items such as trading cards, autographed mementos, commemorative coins, figurines, and limited-edition artworks. These products are attractive to passionate collectors and fans who want to protect and display their love for the sport.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup>O'Reilly, N., Foster, G., Murray, R. and Shimizu, C., Merchandise sales rank in professional sport: Purchase drivers and implications for National Hockey League clubs. *Sport, Business and Management: An International Journal*, *5*(4), 307-324 (2015).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup>Stride, C., Williams, J., Moor, D. and Catley, N., From sportswear to leisurewear: The evolution of English football league shirt design in the replica kit era. In *Kit: Fashioning the Sporting Body* 166-204(Routledge, 2017).

## Supplementary items

Accessories enhance the spectator experience by providing both useful and attractive elements that improve involvement with the sport. This category includes a wide range of products, including bags, backpacks, wallets, keychains, lanyards, phone covers, and drinkware. Accessories provide fans with the chance to incorporate their passion for the sport into their everyday routines, whether they are at home, at work, or on the move.

# Graphic design and brand development

# Portraying the Brand's Identity

Design and branding are essential elements of sports merchandise, guaranteeing that products accurately embody the identity and principles of the sporting organisation<sup>133</sup>. The designs of merchandise should be consistent with the team's visual identity, encompassing elements such as logos, colours, typography, and photography. Brand consistency enhances brand identification and fortifies the emotional bond between fans and the organisation.

# The Standard of Excellence and Genuineness

When designing merchandise, it is crucial to prioritise quality and authenticity. Fans have high expectations and need things that demonstrate exceptional craftsmanship and longevity<sup>134</sup>. Sports organisations should collaborate with respected manufacturers and suppliers to guarantee that product meets or beyond client expectations. Authenticity is of utmost importance, since fans are actively searching for things that are legally licenced and acknowledged by the organisation, ensuring their genuineness.

# **Channels of distribution**

# **E-commerce platforms**

E-commerce platforms have gained significant significance as distribution outlets for sports items, providing convenience, accessibility, and worldwide coverage. Sports organisations manage their e-commerce systems, enabling supporters to conveniently explore and buy products from their own residences. Online retailers offer a diverse range of products, tailored shopping experiences, and reliable payment methods, serving customers globally.

# Venues

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup>Slade-Brooking, C., Creating a brand identity: A guide for designers. Hachette UK (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup>Berry, L.L., *Discovering the soul of service: The nine drivers of sustainable business success*. Simon and Schuster (1999).

Stadiums and arenas function as main commercial centres for sports items, providing fans with the chance to buy equipment and clothing during live events<sup>135</sup>. On-site retail outlets, team stores, and concession stands offer supporters convenient access to the most recent merchandise collections, enabling them to demonstrate their support while attending games or events. The sales made at the stadium enhance the whole experience of attending a game and provide cash for the organisation.

## **Retail Outlets**

Retail stores serve as a crucial distribution route for sports merchandise, allowing fans to access products through physical locations in malls, shopping centres, and specialised stores. Sports organisations can collaborate with retail partners and licenced vendors to enhance their visibility in brick-and-mortar retail settings. Retail outlets provide fans with the chance to explore and buy items while interacting with the wider retail community.

#### **Specialty and Pop-Up Shops**

Specialty and pop-up stores offer sports organisations temporary retail areas to display merchandise collections and interact with fans in distinctive environments.<sup>136</sup> These transient retail experiences may align with certain occasions, festivities, or advertising initiatives, generating enthusiasm and a sense of urgency among enthusiasts. Speciality and pop-up stores provide a carefully chosen assortment of goods, exclusive product releases, and engaging brand encounters.

# Conclusion

Merchandising plays a crucial role in the sports industry by generating income, encouraging fan involvement, and increasing brand exposure. Sports organisations may satisfy the varied preferences of followers globally by providing a wide selection of items, such as clothing, memorabilia, and accessories. By employing strategic design and branding, merchandise effectively embodies the organization's identity and ideals, thereby enhancing the emotional bond with fans. By utilising various distribution channels such as online stores, stadiums, retail locations, and specialty shops, sports organisations can optimise the extent and availability of their items, so improving the fan experience and bolstering the organization's long-term prosperity.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup>Brochado, A., Brito, C., Bouchet, A. and Oliveira, F., Dimensions of football stadium and museum tour experiences: The case of Europe's most valuable brands. *Sustainability*, *13*(12), 6602 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup>Yu, H.,Sean Sedlezky; Ken Wong; Tony Hernandez; Pauline Larsen; and Gay Stephenson, Pop-up retail strategies in an omnichannel context (2023).

# **5.3 INTERNET MARKETING**

Sports organizations now rely heavily on internet marketing to interact with fans, build their brand, and increase sales. In this expanded section, we will deal with each facet of internet marketing in sports, including digital presence, global reach, content creation, and e-commerce platforms.<sup>137</sup>

#### 5.3.1 **Digital Presence**

#### Websites

A sports organization's website serves as its digital headquarters, providing fans with a centralized hub for information, engagement, and transactions<sup>138</sup>. A well-designed website offer intuitive navigation, comprehensive content, and seamless functionality across desktop and mobile devices.

An effective sports website includes several key elements to engage visitors and enhance their experience. First and foremost, it has a user-friendly design that allows easy navigation, which ensures fans to quickly find scores, schedules, and news updates. High-quality, dynamic content, including live streaming, highlight reels, and exclusive interviews, keeps visitors returning for fresh and exciting information. Interactive features, such as fan forums, polls, and social media integration, foster community and engagement, encouraging fans to participate actively. A robust e-commerce platform is also essential, enabling seamless transactions for purchasing tickets, merchandise, and subscriptions. Additionally, mobile optimization is critical, as many users access websites via smartphones and tablets. By combining these elements, a sports website can effectively serve its audience, driving traffic, increasing engagement, and building a loyal fan base.

In other words, an effective sports website includes team information such as detailed profiles of teams, players, coaches, and staff, up-to-date schedules, scores, and game recaps, online ticket sales, seat selection, and stadium maps. It also includes integrated e-commerce platform for purchasing team-branded merchandise, interactive features such as fan forums, polls, and contests, latest news, press releases, and multimedia content.

## Social Media

Social media platforms offer sports organizations unparalleled opportunities to engage with fans, amplify their brand, and drive conversation.<sup>139</sup> Each platform has its unique strengths and audience demographics, allowing organizations to tailor their content and engagement strategies accordingly. Such as Facebook is Ideal for sharing news, updates, and event information with a broad audience, Twitter is used for real-time updates, live coverage of games, player interactions, and hashtag campaigns.Instagram helps invisual

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>137</sup>Bhaisare, G.P., *Intellectual Property Rights in Sports and Personality Rights among Sportspersons*, 2 Jus Corpus LJ, 351(2021). <sup>138</sup>Yadav, J., Yadav, R., Sahore, N. and Mendiratta, A., Digital social engagements and knowledge sharing among sports fans: Role of interaction, identification, and interface. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, *195*, p.122792 (2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup>Sutera, D.M., Sports fans 2.0: How fans are using social media to get closer to the game(Scarecrow Press, 2013).

storytelling through photos, videos, and Instagram Stories.TikTok was used for short-form video content, challenges, and behind-the-scenes glimpses whereas LinkedIn is ideal forprofessional networking, industry news, and corporate updates.

Social media engagement strategies may include various dynamic approaches to connect with fans and enhance their experience. One key strategy is live coverage, which provides real-time updates and commentary during games and events, keeping fans informed and engaged. Another important element is fan interaction, featuring polls, Q&A sessions, and opportunities for fans to create and share content. Offering behind-the-scenes content gives fans exclusive access to players, coaches, and facilities, fostering a deeper connection with the team. Additionally, amplifying user-generated content, such as fan photos, videos, and testimonials, can create a sense of community and involvement. Finally, hashtag campaigns can encourage fan participation and virality by creating and promoting branded hashtags that fans can use and share widely.

## **Email Campaigns**

Email marketing remains a highly efficient medium for sports organizations to communicate directly with fans and drive engagement.<sup>140</sup>

Key components of successful email campaigns include several crucial strategies. Segmentation involves targeting specific audience segments based on demographics, preferences, and behavior to ensure the message reaches the right people. Personalization is essential, as tailoring content and offers to individual recipients increases relevance and engagement. Automation plays a vital role by triggering email sequences based on predefined actions or milestones, such as ticket purchases or newsletter sign-ups. A/B testing allows marketers to experiment with different subject lines, content formats, and calls-to-action to optimize campaign performance. Lastly, analytics and tracking are critical for monitoring key metrics such as open rates, click-through rates, and conversion rates, enabling data-driven improvements to the campaign.

## 5.3.2 Global Reach- Reaching Fans Worldwide Through Online Channels

Internet marketing enables sports organizations to transcend geographical barriers and connect with fans around the globe<sup>141</sup>. Through digital channels such as websites, social media, and email, organizations can engage fans regardless of their location, time zone, or language. To maximize global reach, sports organizations should consider:

**Multilingual Content**: Translating website content, social media posts, and email campaigns into multiple languages to cater to diverse audiences.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup>Truong Nguyen, T.Q., Proposal of E-mail Marketing Communication for fans of VBA (2016).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup>Zhang, J.J., Pitts, B.G. and Kim, E., *Introduction: Sport marketing in a globalized marketplace*, In Contemporary sport marketing 3-22(Routledge, 2017).

Localization: Adapting branding, imagery, and messaging to resonate with cultural preferences and sensibilities in different regions.

**Global Partnerships**: Collaborating with international brands, media outlets, and influencers to amplify reach and visibility in key markets.

**Localized Marketing Campaigns**: Tailoring promotions, events, and merchandise offerings to align with local customs, holidays, and sporting traditions.

## 5.3.3 Content Creation

#### Videos

Video content is a highly engaging and shareable medium for sports marketing, allowing organizations to tell compelling stories, showcase highlights, and connect with fans on an emotional level.<sup>142</sup>Video content in the sports industry can take various engaging forms to captivate audiences. Game highlights are a popular type, offering recap videos that feature key plays, goals, and memorable moments from games, allowing fans to relive the excitement.

Player profiles provide an intimate look at athletes through interviews, behind-the-scenes footage, and personal stories, fostering a deeper connection with fans. Behind-the-scenes content gives exclusive access to practices, locker rooms, and team activities, offering fans an insider's view of their favorite teams. Additionally, fan engagement videos, such as challenges, contests, and user-generated content, actively involve fans and encourage their participation, enhancing their overall experience and loyalty.Platforms like YouTube, Vimeo, and social media enable organizations to distribute videos to a global audience, driving brand awareness and fan engagement.

#### **Articles and Blogs**

Written content plays an important role in sports marketing, providing sports' fans with in-depth analysis, commentary, and storytelling<sup>143</sup>. Articles and blog posts in the sports industry can encompass a wide range of topics to keep fans informed and engaged. Game previews and recaps provide in-depth analysis of upcoming matchups and detailed reviews of past games, helping fans stay updated on team performance and strategies. Player features delve into profiles, interviews, and career retrospectives, offering insights into the lives and careers of athletes.

Team news and updates cover essential information such as roster changes, injury reports, and coaching decisions, ensuring fans are aware of the latest developments within their favorite teams. Additionally, articles on industry trends offer analysis of market developments, innovations, and emerging

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup>Annamalai, B., Yoshida, M., Varshney, S., Pathak, A.A. and Venugopal, P., *Social media content strategy for sport clubs to drive fan engagement*, 62 Journal of retailing and consumer services, 102648 (2021).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup>Filo, K., Lock, D. and Karg, A., Sport and social media research: A review, 18(2) Sport management review, 166-181 (2015).

technologies, providing a broader perspective on the evolving landscape of the sports industry. Blogs also serve as platforms for thought leadership, fan-generated content, and community engagement.

# **Interactive Content**

Interactive content enhances fan engagement and creates memorable experiences, encouraging fans to actively participate and share.

Examples of interactive content in the sports industry include a variety of engaging activities designed to involve and entertain fans. Quizzes and trivia challenge fans' knowledge of team history, players, and memorable moments, offering a fun way to test and expand their expertise. Polls and surveys solicit fan opinions on various topics, such as favorite players, memorable moments, and anticipated future events, fostering a sense of community and involvement. Virtual tours provide immersive experiences that allow fans to explore stadiums, training facilities, and historical landmarks, giving them an insider's view from the comfort of their homes. Interactive games, such as casual games, puzzles, and sport-related challenges, offer additional entertainment and engagement opportunities, enhancing the overall fan experience and strengthening their connection to the team.

Interactive content fosters a sense of connection with the organization, increases time spent on digital platforms, and encourages social sharing.

#### **5.3.4 E-commerce Platforms**

## **Online Stores**

E-commerce platforms enable sports organizations to sell merchandise directly to fans worldwide, providing a convenient and accessible shopping experience.<sup>144</sup>Online stores empower sports organizations to capitalize on fan demand, launch exclusive collections, and track sales performance in real-time.

Key features of online stores include a detailed product catalog, offering comprehensive listings of team-branded merchandise such as apparel, accessories, collectibles, and memorabilia. A secure checkout process is essential, with integrated payment gateways supporting credit cards, digital wallets, and alternative payment methods to ensure a safe and seamless transaction experience. Personalization enhances the shopping experience by recommending products based on the customer's browsing history, purchase behavior, and preferences. Additionally, order tracking provides real-time updates on order status, shipping, and delivery, keeping customers informed and satisfied throughout the purchasing process.

## **Payment Gateways and Security**

Ensuring a seamless and secure payment experience is essential for e-commerce success.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup>Paek, B., Morse, A., Kim, M. and Jung, H., *Sport consumer flow and shopping well-being in online shopping*, 22(4), International Journal of Sports Marketing and Sponsorship, 721-736 (2021).

In order to safeguard consumer information and stop fraud, sports organizations work with reputable payment gateways and put strong security measures in place.Key considerations include supporting a wide range of payment options to accommodate global audiences, such as credit cards, digital wallets, and localized payment solutions. SSL encryption is used to protect sensitive data, like credit card numbers and personal information, from unauthorized access. Fraud prevention strategies include deploying fraud detection algorithms, CAPTCHA tests, and address verification systems to identify and prevent fraudulent transactions. Additionally, adhering to Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard (PCI DSS) requirements ensures the secure handling of payment card data.

By prioritizing payment security and offering a variety of payment options, sports organizations can instill trust and confidence in their online shopping experience.

## Conclusion

Internet marketing has become ancrucial component of sports organizations' marketing strategies, enabling them to engage fans, promote their brand, and drive revenue in the digital age. By leveraging digital presence, global reach, content creation, and e-commerce platforms, organizations can cultivate meaningful connections with fans worldwide, enhance fan engagement, and create new revenue streams. Sports businesses need to stay ahead of the curve and competitive in the dynamic sports marketing landscape by embracing innovation and modifying their online marketing strategy as technology advances.

## **5.4. INTERNATIONAL EXPANSION**

Expanding into international markets is a strategic endeavour for sports organizations, offering both challenges and opportunities. In this expanded section, we will deal with the complexities of international expansion in the sports industry, including legal, cultural, and language barriers, as well as the opportunities for accessing new markets and fanbases. We'll also delve into the importance of comprehensive market research and effective localization strategies in successfully penetrating international markets.

## 5.4.1 Challenges of international expansion in the Sports Industry

## **Legal Barriers**

Navigating the legal landscape of international markets poses significant challenges for sports organizations<sup>145</sup>. Key legal considerations include:

**Intellectual Property Rights**: Ensuring the protection of trademarks, copyrights, and other intellectual property assets in foreign jurisdictions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup>Kumari, M., *Examining Legal Challenges in Modern Sports: A Contemporary Perspective*, 1(2) ILE FN, 7-24 (2023) https://fn.iledu.in/wp-content/uploads/2023/08/V1I32.pdf.

**Regulatory Compliance**: Adhering to local laws and regulations governing sports broadcasting, merchandising, and sponsorship agreements.

**Contractual Agreements**: Negotiating and enforcing licensing agreements, broadcasting deals, and venue contracts across borders.

**Tax and Financial Regulations**: Understanding tax implications, currency exchange rates, and financial reporting requirements in different countries.

Addressing legal barriers requires careful due diligence, expert legal counsel, and proactive risk management strategies to mitigate potential liabilities and disputes.

## **Cultural Differences**

Cultural nuances and differences can present significant obstacles to international expansion efforts.<sup>146</sup>Navigating diverse cultural landscapes is essential for sports organizations to thrive in global markets. Firstly, understanding fan preferences entails delving into cultural attitudes, values, and behaviors related to sports consumption and fandom. This insight enables organizations to tailor their marketing and branding efforts to resonate with local sensibilities and preferences, ensuring relevance and connection with audiences.

Moreover, adapting event management strategies involves aligning event formats, promotions, and fan experiences with cultural norms, traditions, and expectations. By embracing cultural diversity and adapting strategies accordingly, sports organizations can foster deeper engagement, build stronger connections, and enhance their impact across diverse cultural contexts. Effective cross-cultural communication and sensitivity are essential for building trust, rapport, and brand loyalty among international audiences.

#### Language Barriers

Language differences can impede effective communication and engagement with international audiences.<sup>147</sup>Overcoming these barriers requires several strategies. First, translation and localization efforts are essential, involving the conversion of website content, social media posts, marketing materials, and merchandise descriptions into local languages. Additionally, providing multilingual customer support enables addressing inquiries, concerns, and feedback from international fans in their preferred language. Cultural sensitivity is also paramount, ensuring that translated content and messaging resonate with local audiences' linguistic nuances and expressions. Clear and concise communication in the language of the target market is crucial for establishing credibility, accessibility, and trust with international audiences, ultimately fostering stronger connections and enhancing brand engagement.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup>Fearon, J.D., *Ethnic and cultural diversity by country*, 8 Journal of economic growth, 195-222 (2003).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup>Ammigan, R. and Laws, K.N., *Communications preferences among international students: Strategies for creating optimal engagement in programs and services*, 8(3) Journal of International Students, 1293-1315 (2018).

Clear and concise communication in the language of the target market is crucial for establishing credibility, accessibility, and trust with international audiences.

## 5.4.2 Opportunities through International Expansion in the sports industry

#### **Expanding to New Markets**

International expansion offers sports organizations access to new international markets with untapped potential for growth and revenue<sup>148</sup>. Emerging markets in Asia, Latin America, and the Middle East present lucrative opportunities for expanding fanbases, attracting sponsors, and securing broadcasting deals. By diversifying their geographic footprint, organizations can reduce dependence on domestic markets and tap into new sources of revenue streams.

#### Fanbases

Expanding into international markets allows sports organizations to cultivate diverse and passionate fanbases around the world. By engaging fans from different cultural backgrounds and regions, organizations can foster a global community of supporters united by their shared love for the sport. International fanbases offer valuable insights, feedback, and advocacy, contributing to the overall success and longevity of the organization.

#### 5.4.3 Importance of Market Research

#### **Understanding International Fan Preferences**

Comprehensive market research is essential for informing international expansion strategies and understanding the preferences and behaviors of international fans. Market research comprises key components crucial for informed decision-making and strategic planning. First and foremost, analyzing demographics helps identify target audiences and segments across various regions, enabling tailored marketing strategies. Understanding consumer behavior is equally vital, involving the study of sports consumption habits, purchasing patterns, and media preferences among international fans to effectively meet their needs and preferences.

Assessing the competitive landscape provides insights into market dynamics, industry trends, and competitor strategies, facilitating the development of a competitive advantage. Additionally, gaining cultural insights into fan attitudes, values, and traditions related to sports and entertainment is essential for crafting culturally relevant and resonant campaigns. By incorporating these components, market research empowers sports organizations to make data-driven decisions, optimize resource allocation, and maximize their impact in global markets. Thorough market research enables sports organizations to tailor their marketing strategies, product offerings, and engagement tactics to effectively connect with international audiences.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup>Cui, G. and Liu, Q., *Regional market segments of China: opportunities and barriers in a big emerging market*, 17(1)Journal of consumer marketing, 55-72 (2000).

#### **Effective Localization Strategies**

Localization efforts are essential for successfully penetrating international markets and resonating with local audiences.<sup>149</sup> Localization strategies may includeadapting branding, such asadapting logos, slogans, and visual elements to reflect cultural sensitivities and preferences in different regions. It also includes adapting content such as tailoring marketing campaigns, social media content, and merchandise offerings to align with local language, cultural context, and values. Also, customizing events, promotions, and fan experiences to cater to local tastes, interests, and traditions might help.

By prioritizing localization, sports organizations can demonstrate authenticity, respect, and relevance to international audiences, enhancing engagement and brand affinity in new markets.

## Conclusion

International expansion presents both challenges and opportunities for sports organizations seeking to grow their global presence and fanbase. By addressing legal, cultural, and language barriers, organizations can navigate the complexities of international markets and capitalize on opportunities for growth and revenue. Through comprehensive market research and effective localization efforts,organizations can adjust their strategy to resonate with local audiences by gaining important insights into the preferences of their worldwide fan base. By embracing international expansion, sports organizations can cultivate a global community of passionate fans united by their shared love for the sport, driving long-term success and sustainability.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup>Yiyang, W., *Marketing Strategies Of Chinese Enterprises In The Media Environment*, https://phsreda.com/e-articles/10569/Action10569-109982.pdf.

# **CHAPTER 6: CONCLUSION AND SUGGESTIONS**

## **Conclusion:**

In the multifaceted world of sports, intellectual property rights, particularly trademarks, play an important role in shaping the landscape of branding, sponsorships, and advertisements. This comprehensive examination has underscored the significance of trademarks as foundational elements that establish brand identity, drive commercial partnerships, and foster fan engagement in the sports industry. As we conclude this discourse, it is essential to reflect on the key insights gleaned from our exploration and their implications for the future of sports marketing, IP management, and industry evolution.

## The Strategic Value of Trademarks in Sports:

Trademarks serve as more than mere symbols; they are symbolic representations of brand identity, heritage, and values. Throughout this discourse, we have elucidated the strategic value of trademarks in sports, highlighting their role in:

## **Brand Recognition and Loyalty:**

Strong trademarks evoke emotional connections and foster fan loyalty, driving revenue streams and commercial partnerships for sports organizations. A recognizable trademark acts as a beacon for fans, symbolizing not just a team or athlete, but a shared identity and community. This emotional bond strengthens over time, leading to increased engagement, ticket sales, and merchandise purchases.

## **Sponsorship Activation:**

Trademarks facilitate brand association and visibility in sponsorship deals, enabling sponsors to leverage the reach and influence of sports properties to achieve marketing objectives. Sponsors seek partnerships with sports organizations whose trademarks align with their target audience and brand values. Through strategic activation, sponsors can amplify their message, enhance brand recall, and connect with fans on a deeper level.

## Advertising and Engagement:

As visual anchors for marketing campaigns, trademarks enhance brand recall, engagement, and advocacy among fans, driving interactions and amplifying brand messaging across diverse media channels. Sports organizations leverage their trademarks to create compelling narratives, evoke emotions, and foster connections with fans through various touchpoints, including social media, advertising campaigns, and experiential marketing activations.

## The Nexus between IP Management and Strategic Branding:

Effective management of IP rights, including trademarks, is integral to strategic branding initiatives and long-term business success in the sports industry. Sports organizations must adopt proactive strategies and best practices to:

## **Protect Brand Integrity:**

By registering trademarks, monitoring infringement, and enforcing legal rights, sports organizations safeguard their brand reputation and market share from unauthorized use and dilution. Trademark infringement can erode brand equity, confuse consumers, and undermine the exclusivity of sponsorship and licensing agreements. Therefore, robust enforcement measures are essential to maintain brand integrity and competitive advantage.

#### Leverage Brand Assets:

Trademarks serve as valuable assets that can be leveraged to create strategic alliances, open up new revenue streams, and improve fan experiences through innovative marketing and engagement initiatives. Sports organizations can monetize their trademarks through licensing agreements, merchandising deals, and sponsorship activations, generating additional revenue streams to support team operations and investments in player development and fan engagement initiatives.

#### Navigate Global Expansion:

As sports organizations expand their global footprint, they must navigate the complexities of cross-border IP management, cultural adaptation, and regulatory compliance to capitalize on international growth opportunities while mitigating risks. Global expansion presents both challenges and opportunities for trademark management, including language barriers, cultural sensitivities, and differing legal frameworks. Therefore, sports organizations must develop tailored strategies for international markets, balancing brand consistency with local relevance and consumer preferences.

## **Suggestions for Future Research:**

#### 1. Legal and Regulatory Considerations:

**Trademark Law and Sports**: Further research is warranted to explore the intersection of trademark law and sports, including landmark case studies, legislative developments, and jurisprudential trends that shape IP rights and enforcement strategies in the sports industry. This research can provide

valuable insights into emerging legal challenges and opportunities for sports organizations and their stakeholders.

**Regulatory Compliance**: Examining the evolving regulatory landscape governing sports marketing, sponsorship disclosures, and advertising standards, with a focus on emerging issues such as data privacy, influencer marketing, and native advertising. Understanding regulatory requirements and best practices is essential for sports organizations to navigate the complex regulatory environment and maintain compliance while maximizing the effectiveness of their marketing efforts.

## 2. Technological Innovations and IP Challenges:

**Emerging Technologies**: Examining the effects of newly developed technologies such as blockchain, augmented reality (AR), and virtual reality (VR) on IP management, fan engagement, and commercial opportunities in sports. These technologies have the potential to revolutionize how sports organizations manage their trademarks, interact with fans, and monetize their brand assets in innovative ways.

**Digital Piracy and Counterfeiting**: Assessing the prevalence and impact of digital piracy, counterfeit merchandise, and unauthorized streaming on sports organizations' revenue streams and brand reputation, along with strategies for combating these challenges. With the proliferation of digital platforms and online marketplaces, sports organizations face increasing threats from piracy and counterfeiting, necessitating proactive measures to protect their trademarks and intellectual property rights.

## 3. Globalization and Cultural Adaptation:

**Market Entry Strategies**: Analyzing market entry strategies and localization efforts of sports organizations in diverse international markets, with a focus on cultural adaptation, consumer preferences, and regulatory compliance. Understanding the cultural nuances and market dynamics of international markets is critical for sports organizations to effectively expand their global footprint and engage with diverse audiences.

**Cross-Cultural Branding**: Exploring best practices and case studies in cross-cultural branding and marketing initiatives, including successful examples of sports organizations adapting their trademarks and branding strategies to resonate with diverse global audiences. Cultural sensitivity and localization are key factors in building brand resonance and establishing meaningful connections with fans across different regions and demographics.

#### 4. Ethical and Social Implications:

Ethical Branding Practices: Investigating ethical dilemmas and best practices in sports branding, sponsorships, and advertisements, including issues related to authenticity, transparency, and social

responsibility. Sports organizations have a responsibility to uphold ethical standards and values in their branding initiatives, sponsorships, and advertising campaigns, ensuring alignment with societal expectations and stakeholder interests.

**Diversity and Inclusion**: Examining the role of trademarks and branding in promoting diversity, inclusion, and social justice within the sports industry, and their impact on fan engagement, brand perception, and corporate reputation. Brands that embrace diversity and inclusion in their branding initiatives can foster greater inclusivity, equity, and representation within the sports community, strengthening their relationships with fans and stakeholders.

In conclusion, trademarks serve as linchpins in the dynamic ecosystem of branding, sponsorships, and advertisements in the sports industry. By effectively managing and utilizing their intellectual property, sports organizations can cultivate brand equity, drive revenue growth, and forge deeper connections with fans worldwide. As the sports industry continues to evolve in an era of digital transformation, globalization, and shifting consumer preferences, it is imperative for stakeholders to remain vigilant, adaptable, and innovative in their approach to IP management, branding strategies, and industry practices. By embracing the strategic value of trademarks and investing in research-driven insights and best practices, sports organizations are capable of navigating the intricate details of the contemporary business environment and positioning themselves for long-term success and relevance in the dynamic sports industry.

# **BIBLIOGRAPHY:**

- 20 Best Brand Slogans & How To Create Yours In 2024, available at: https://www.digitalsilk.com/digital-trends/brand-slogans-examples/ (Visited on 22 April, 2024)
- □ Abbott, A.F., 2002. Intellectual property licensing and antitrust policy: A comparative perspective. *Law &Pol'y Int'l Bus.*, *34*, p.801.
- □ Agur, C., 2015. Second-order networks, gambling, and corruption on Indian mobile phone networks. *Media, Culture & Society*, *37*(5), pp.768-783.
- □ Akbar, R., 2011. *Performance measurement and accountability in Indonesian local government* (Doctoral dissertation, Curtin University).
- Al-Ammal, H.M., Albalooshi, F.A., Aljawder, M.M., Aldoseri, A.K., Almeer, M.A. and Kottilingal, A.A., 2020, December. A novel design of a fully seamless e-payment experience. In 2020 International Conference on Innovation and Intelligence for Informatics, Computing and Technologies (3ICT) (pp. 1-6). IEEE.
- Ammigan, R. and Laws, K.N., 2018. Communications preferences among international students: Strategies for creating optimal engagement in programs and services. *Journal of International Students*, 8(3), pp.1293-1315.
- Annamalai, B., Yoshida, M., Varshney, S., Pathak, A.A. and Venugopal, P., 2021.
  Social media content strategy for sport clubs to drive fan engagement. *Journal of retailing and consumer services*, 62, p.102648.
- Arthur, B.R., 2014. Always protect your brand: Trademark infringement protection for athletes using social media sites. *DePaul J. Sports L. & Contemp. Probs.*, 10, p.83.
- Arthur, B.R., 2014. Always protect your brand: Trademark infringement protection for athletes using social media sites. *DePaul J. Sports L. & Contemp. Probs.*, 10, p.83.
- □ Barcelona F.C. v. Unlicensed Merchandisers (2020), DTP-CORR-JMB-STA
- □ BCCI v. Cricket Association of Bengal (1995), 1995 AIR 1236, 1995 SCC (2)
- □ Berry, L.L., 1999. *Discovering the soul of service: The nine drivers of sustainable business success*. Simon and Schuster.

- Berzina, A., 2015. A Responsible Start: Corporate social responsibility perception of incubated young entrepreneurs: case of Latvia and Sweden.
- □ Bhaisare, G.P., 2021. Intellectual Property Rights in Sports and Personality Rights among Sportspersons. *Jus Corpus LJ*, *2*, p.351.
- □ Bhaisare, G.P., 2021. Intellectual Property Rights in Sports and Personality Rights among Sportspersons. *Jus Corpus LJ*, *2*, p.351.
- Bhutia, T.C., 2018. Domain Name Disputes and Unfair Trade Practices: An Analytical Legal Study (Doctoral dissertation).
- Bi, K., 2015. What Is False or Misleading Off-Label Promotion. U. Chi. L. Rev., 82, p.975.
- Biscaia, R., Correia, A., Ross, S. and Rosado, A., 2014. Sponsorship effectiveness in professional sport: an examination of recall and recognition among football fans. *International Journal of Sports Marketing and Sponsorship*, 16(1), pp.2-18.
- Blackshaw, I., 2008. The importance of IP rights in sport: global IP & patents meeting London 2008. *The International Sports Law Journal*, (3-4), pp.146-151.
- Blackshaw, I.S., 2011. Sports marketing agreements: legal, fiscal and practical aspects. Springer Science & Business Media.
- □ Board of Control for Cricket in India v. Netaji Cricket Club (2005) 4 SCC 741
- □ Bone, R.G., 2004. Enforcement costs and trademark puzzles. *Virginia Law Review*, pp.2099-2185.
- Bray, C., 2016. Leaving Your Mark: An Analysis of Collegiate Student-Athlete Trademark Rights. *Sports Law. J.*, 23, p.87.
- Brison, N.T. and Geurin, A.N., 2021. Social media engagement as a metric for ranking US Olympic athletes as brand endorsers. *Journal of Interactive Advertising*, 21(2), pp.121-138.
- Brochado, A., Brito, C., Bouchet, A. and Oliveira, F., 2021. Dimensions of football stadium and museum tour experiences: The case of Europe's most valuable brands. *Sustainability*, 13(12), p.6602.
- □ Brown, M.T., Rascher, D.A., Nagel, M.S. and McEvoy, C.D., 2016. *Financial management in the sport industry*. Routledge.

- □ Bruton, D.J., 2015. *Sports marketing: The view of industry experts*. Jones & Bartlett Publishers.
- □ Burton, N. and Chadwick, S., 2009. Ambush marketing in sport: An analysis of sponsorship protection means and counter-ambush measures. *Journal of Sponsorship*, *2*(4).
- □ Cantatore, F. and Crawford-Spencer, E., 2018. *Effective intellectual property management for small to medium businesses and social enterprises: IP branding, licenses, trademarks, copyrights, patents and contractual arrangements.* Brown Walker Press.
- □ Carrillat, F.A. and d'Astous, A., 2012. The sponsorship-advertising interface: is less better for sponsors?. *European Journal of Marketing*, *46*(3/4), pp.562-574.
- Cheung, S.O., Suen, H.C. and Lam, T.I., 2002. Fundamentals of alternative dispute resolution processes in construction. *Journal of construction engineering and management*, 128(5), pp.409-417.
- Chikada, A. and Gupta, A., 2017. Online brand protection. In *Handbook of Research* on *Counterfeiting and Illicit Trade* (pp. 340-365). Edward Elgar Publishing.
- □ Christiansen, A., 2022. Monetizing Attention and Branding Strategy: Assessing the Effects of Personal Branding on Amateur Athletic Compensation.
- Chronopoulos, A., 2014. Legal and economic arguments for the protection of advertising value through trade mark law. *Queen Mary Journal of Intellectual Property*, 4(4), pp.256-276.
- □ Corgill, D.S., 1996. Measuring the Gains of Trademark Infringement. *Fordham L. Rev.*, *65*, p.1909.
- □ Cui, G. and Liu, Q., 2000. Regional market segments of China: opportunities and barriers in a big emerging market. *Journal of consumer marketing*, *17*(1), pp.55-72.
- Daniel, C.E., 2020. An Exploratory Analysis of the Volume of Load Exposure of Elite Youth Male Basketball Athletes in Comparison to Current Practices and NBA Recommendations (Doctoral dissertation, Concordia University Chicago).
- Dhoni v. Bata India (2018), WRIT PETITION NO. 5862 OF 2018.

- Dubey, J.P., 2005. Case C-438/00, DeutscherHandballbund eV v. MarosKolpak, Judgment of the Court of Justice (Fifth Chamber) of 8 May 2003,[2003] ECR I-4135. *Common Market L. Rev.*, 42, p.499.
- □ Eqbal, M. and Upadhyay, A.K., 2007. Copy right act: An overview from traditional to digital environment. *Vidhigya: The Journal of Legal Awareness*, *2*(1and2), pp.106-119.
- □ Farahani, J.G., *Influencer endorsement efficacy: effect of source characteristics on consumer behavior variables* (Doctoral dissertation).
- Farrelly, F., Quester, P. and Greyser, S.A., 2005. Defending the co-branding benefits of sponsorship B2B partnerships: The case of ambush marketing. *Journal of Advertising Research*, 45(3), pp.339-348.
- □ Favre, E., 2007. Online auction houses: how trademark owners protect brand integrity against counterfeiting. *JL &Pol'y*, *15*, p.165.
- □ Fearon, J.D., 2003. Ethnic and cultural diversity by country. *Journal of economic growth*, 8, pp.195-222.
- □ Fernandes, L. ed., 2014. *Routledge handbook of gender in South Asia*. London: Routledge.
- □ Filo, K., Lock, D. and Karg, A., 2015. Sport and social media research: A review. *Sport management review*, *18*(2), pp.166-181.
- □ Franklin, M.A., 2012. *Following the mouse: a historical and cultural analysis of the Disney fan community* (Doctoral dissertation, California State University, Northridge).
- □ Friedman, A., 1994. Protection of Sports Trademarks. *Loy. LA Ent. LJ*, *15*, p.689.
- □ Friedman, A., 1994. Protection of Sports Trademarks. Loy. LA Ent. LJ, 15, p.689.
- □ Friedman, A., 2022. *Trademark Dilution: The Protection of Reputed Trademarks Beyond Likelihood of Confusion*. Austin Macauley Publishers.
- Gaikwad, A. and Dhokare, C.S., 2020. A Study of intellectual property rights and its significance for business. *Journal of Information and Computational Science*, 10(2), pp.552-561.
- □ Gale, K., 2016. The sports industry's new power play: Athlete biometric data domination. Who owns it and what may be done with it. *Ariz. St. U. Sports & Ent. LJ*, *6*, p.7.

- □ Gladden, J.M., Milne, G.R. and Sutton, W.A., 1998. A conceptual framework for assessing brand equity in Division I college athletics. *Journal of sport management*, *12*(1), pp.1-19.
- □ Glick, J., 1983. Professional sports franchise movements and the Sherman act: When and where teams should be able to move. *Santa Clara L. Rev.*, *23*, p.55.
- □ Green Bay Packers, Inc. v. The Milwaukee Packers (2010), 272 Wis. 149.
- Groves, P., 2011. *A dictionary of intellectual property law*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- GÜLAY, G., 2023. Beyond the Game: Athletes, Events, Spectators and Venues in Sports Marketing. Turkuaz
   KongreOrganizasyonuFuarcılıkYayıncılıkEğitimTurizmveTicaret Limited Şirketi.
- Hasitha, S. and Jain, A.K., 2020. Affinities of Intellectual Property Rights in Sports. Supremo Amicus, 18, p.752.
- □ Headnotes, L.R., THE NATIONAL BASKETBALL ASSOCIATION and NBA PROPERTIES, INC.
- □ Helfer, L.R. and Dinwoodie, G.B., 2001. Designing non-national systems: the case of the uniform domain name dispute resolution policy. *Wm. & Mary L. Rev.*, *43*, p.141.
- □ Hetzel, D.J., 2004. Professional Athletes and Sports Teams: The Nexus of Their Identity Protection. *Sports Law. J.*, *11*, p.141.
- □ Houben, R., Blockx, J. and Nuyts, S., 2022. UEFA and the Super League: who is calling who a cartel?. *The International Sports Law Journal*, *22*(3), pp.205-216.
- □ Jagodic, T. and Matesa, Z., 2018. Basic elements of a sponsorship contract in sport. *Zb. Radova*, 55, p.275.
- □ Jenkins, C.A., 2006. Establishing a World Anti-Doping Code: WADA's impact on the development of an international strategy for anti-doping in sport.
- □ Kalamadi, S. (2012). Intellectual property and the business of sports management.
- Kamath, G.B., Ganguli, S. and George, S., 2021. Attachment points, team identification and sponsorship outcomes: evidence from the Indian Premier League. *International Journal of Sports Marketing and Sponsorship*, 22(3), pp.429-452.

- Kedar, M.S., 2015. IPL the Most Valuable Franchise Brand Building Game, Branding Cricket–The IPL Way. South Asia Journal of Multidisciplinary Studies, 1(7), pp.1296-9.
- □ Kenavy, E.M., 2013. The economic impact of counterfeit goods in Egypt. *International Journal of Business Management & Research*, *3*(3), pp.111-128.
- Kharytonov, E., Kharytonova, O., Tkalych, M., Bolokan, I., Samilo, H. and Tolmachevska, Y., 2021. Intellectual property law in the field of sports: specifics of manifestations and features of legal regulation. *CuestionesPolíticas*, 39(69).
- Klieger, R.N., 1996. Trademark Dilution: The Whitling Away of the Rational Basis for Trademark Protection. U. Pitt. L. Rev., 58, p.789.
- □ KUMARI, M., EXAMINING LEGAL CHALLENGES IN MODERN SPORTS: A CONTEMPORARY PERSPECTIVE.
- □ Lacey, R., Close, A.G. and Finney, R.Z., 2010. The pivotal roles of product knowledge and corporate social responsibility in event sponsorship effectiveness. *Journal of Business Research*, 63(11), pp.1222-1228.
- □ Landes, W.M. and Posner, R.A., 1987. Trademark law: an economic perspective. *The Journal of Law and Economics*, *30*(2), pp.265-309.
- □ Lemley, M.A., 2002. Intellectual property rights and standard-setting organizations. *Calif. L. Rev.*, *90*, p.1889.
- Lunawat, V., 2021. Sport and development in India: Professional sport league systems.
  In *Sport and development in emerging nations* (pp. 77-93). Routledge.
- □ Macdonald, N.W., 2004. The League that Lasted: 1876 and the Founding of the National League of Professional Base Ball Clubs. McFarland.
- Magnus, U., 2021. Performance and Breach of Contract (pp. 499-533). Nomos VerlagsgesellschaftmbH& Co. KG.
- □ Manchester United F.C. v. Counterfeiters Inc. (2022), UKHL 1, [2022] AC 22
- Manning, M., 2017. Music, Campaigns, and the Law: Navigating the Legal Minefield of Presidential Campaign Music.
- □ Margoni, T., 2016. The protection of sports events in the EU: Property, intellectual property, unfair competition and special forms of protection. *IIC-International Review of Intellectual Property and Competition Law*, 47(4), pp.386-417.

- McCarthy, J.T. and Anderson, P.M., 2000. Protection of the athlete's identity: The right of publicity, endorsements and domain names. *Marq. Sports L. Rev.*, *11*, p.195.
- McCullough, B.P. and Trail, G.T., 2023. Assessing key performance indicators of corporate social responsibility initiatives in sport. *European Sport Management Quarterly*, 23(1), pp.82-103.
- McKelvey, S. and Grady, J., 2008. Sponsorship program protection strategies for special sport events: Are event organizers outmaneuvering ambush marketers?. *Journal of Sport Management*, 22(5), pp.550-586.
- McKelvey, S. and Grady, J., 2008. Sponsorship program protection strategies for special sport events: Are event organizers outmaneuvering ambush marketers?. *Journal of Sport Management*, 22(5), pp.550-586.
- □ Menon, R.S., 2020. Evolution of Intellectual Property Rights in Indian Sports Regime.
- □ Menon, R.S., 2020. Evolution of Intellectual Property Rights in Indian Sports Regime.
- □ Meuret, F., 1987. Sponsorship Contract. Int'l Bus. LJ, p.797.
- MS Dhoni v Maxx Mobiles Case, available at: https://legaldesire.com/ms-dhoni-v-maxx-mobiles-case-delhi-hc-issued-notice-maxx-mobilink-present-court-contempt-petition-dhoni/ (Visited on 20 April 2024)
- Navaneeth, S.S., 2022. A Multitude of Gaps-From Publicity Rights to Ambush Marketing. *Issue 5 Int'l JL Mgmt. & Human.*, 5, p.1434.
- New York Yankees v. Unlicensed Merchandisers (2019), No. 91156780 (T.T.A.B. Aug. 10, 2005).
- Nischita, P.M. and Zongwe, D.P., 2023. Unlocking Potential: Proposing Adequate Measures to Protect Indian Trade Secrets.
- Nufer, G., 2016. Ambush marketing in sports: an attack on sponsorship or innovative marketing?. *Sport, Business and Management: An International Journal*, 6(4), pp.476-495.
- Nuss, O.E., 2022. *The future of name, image, and likeness in advertising*. Louisiana State University and Agricultural & Mechanical College.
- O'Reilly, N., 2007. Sponsorship evaluation (Doctoral dissertation, Carleton University).

- O'Reilly, N., Foster, G., Murray, R. and Shimizu, C., 2015. Merchandise sales rank in professional sport: Purchase drivers and implications for National Hockey League clubs. *Sport, Business and Management: An International Journal*, 5(4), pp.307-324.
- Paek, B., Morse, A., Kim, M. and Jung, H., 2021. Sport consumer flow and shopping well-being in online shopping. *International Journal of Sports Marketing and Sponsorship*, 22(4), pp.721-736.
- Payne, M., 2006. Olympic turnaround: How the Olympic Games stepped back from the brink of extinction to become the world's best known brand. Bloomsbury Publishing USA.
- Pokrovskaya, A., 2024. Protection of Trademark Rights on E-commerce Platforms: An Updated Outlook. *Journal of Comprehensive Business Administration Research*.
- □ Powell, G., Groves, S. and Dimos, J., 2011. *ROI of Social Media: How to improve the return on your social marketing investment*. John Wiley & Sons.
- Pryor, J.L., Huggins, R.A., Casa, D.J., Palmieri, G.A., Kraemer, W.J. and Maresh, C.M., 2014. A profile of a National Football League team. *The Journal of Strength & Conditioning Research*, 28(1), pp.7-13.
- Purdy, J., 2010. For common things: Irony, trust, and commitment in America today.
  Vintage.
- PV, R. and Varma, A.J., 2020. Indian Premier League–Cricket, Entertainment or Business?. *Journal of the Social Sciences*, 48(2).
- Rao, A.S., 2021. Patents in Sports Technology and Patentability of Sports Moves. *Issue 4 Int'l JL Mgmt. & Human.*, 4, p.1695.
- Real Madrid C.F. v. Madrid Football Club Association (2021), (FIFA), CAS 2020/A/7158.
- Reid, H.L., 2006. Olympic sport and its lessons for peace. *Journal of the Philosophy of Sport*, 33(2), pp.205-214.
- □ Reilly, L., 2012. An Introduction to the Court of Arbitration for Sport (CAS) & the role of national courts in international sports disputes. *J. Disp. Resol.*, p.63.
- Reimertshofer, J.F., 1997. Trademark Protection of Intercollegiate Names, Logos, Colors and Trade Dress-A Comparison between the United States and Germany. NY Int'l L. Rev., 10, p.131.

- Roberts, M.R. and Sufi, A., 2009. Renegotiation of financial contracts: Evidence from private credit agreements. *Journal of Financial Economics*, 93(2), pp.159-184.
- □ Ruxin, R.H., 2009. An athlete's guide to agents. Jones & Bartlett Learning.
- □ S., Gowri Manogari, 2022. Registered Trademark of Sports Clubs, Leagues and the Commercial Advantage. *Issue 6 Indian JL & Legal Rsch.*, *4*, p.1.
- Sagar, M. and Sharma, J., 2022. Community engagement with social and digital media content: A study on online fan communities of Chennai super kings and Royal Challengers Bangalore. *Journal of Content, Community & Communication*, *16*(8), pp.202-211.
- Schaffer-Goldman, R., 2009. Cease-and-Desist: Tarnishment's Blunt Sword in Its Battle Against the Unseemly, the Unwholesome, and the Unsavory. *Fordham Intell. Prop. Media & Ent. LJ*, 20, p.1241.
- Scherer, J., Sam, M. and Batty, R., 2005. Sporting sign wars: Advertising and the contested terrain of sporting events and venues. *International Journal of Sport Management and Marketing*, 1(1-2), pp.17-36.
- Section 14 of the Indian Contract Act, 1872, deals with implied contracts, which may include endorsements. These endorsements contribute to the athletes' income and boost the visibility of brands.
- Selvakumar, M.D., 2022. Overlap of Trademarks with Other Intellectual Property Rights: The Strategies of Global Brands. *Beijing L. Rev.*, 13, p.429.
- □ Shank, M.D. and Lyberger, M.R., 2014. Sports marketing: A strategic perspective. Routledge.
- Shobowale, O.O., 2022. INFLUENCE OF CELEBRITY ENDORSEMENT/ENDORSERS ON CONSUMER BEHAVIOUR: A STUDY OF SOURCE CREDIBILITY THEORY AND CONSUMER DECISIONS THROUGH INSTAGRAM (THE CASE OF BEAUTY PRODUCTS).
- Simmons, I., 2023. But Who Really Wins? College Athletes' Analysis of Name, Image, and Likeness Policy Narratives (Doctoral dissertation, University of Southern California).

- Singh, R., Saikia, H. and Bhattacharjee, D., 2015. Application of Markowitz model for analyzing the performance of cricket teams in Indian premier league. *Metamorphosis*, 14(1), pp.14-24.
- □ Slade-Brooking, C., 2016. *Creating a brand identity: A guide for designers*. Hachette UK.
- □ Smith, A.C., Stavros, C. and Westberg, K., 2017. *Brand Fans: Lessons from the World's Greatest Sporting Brands*. Springer.
- □ Staake, T., Thiesse, F. and Fleisch, E., 2009. The emergence of counterfeit trade: a literature review. *European Journal of Marketing*, *43*(3/4), pp.320-349.
- □ Stavros, C. and Smith, A.C., 2019. *Sport branding insights*. Routledge.
- □ Stewart, B., 2017. *Sport funding and finance*. Routledge.
- Stride, C., Williams, J., Moor, D. and Catley, N., 2017. From sportswear to leisurewear: The evolution of English football league shirt design in the replica kit era. In *Kit: Fashioning the Sporting Body* (pp. 166-204). Routledge.
- □ Sutera, D.M., 2013. Sports fans 2.0: How fans are using social media to get closer to the game. Scarecrow Press.
- Swart, J., Peters, C. and Broersma, M., 2017. Navigating cross-media news use: Media repertoires and the value of news in everyday life. *Journalism Studies*, 18(11), pp.1343-1362.
- Truong Nguyen, T.Q., 2016. Proposal of E-mail Marketing Communication for fans of VBA.
- Van Horne, Q., 2021. Market-Ability: The History and Impact of Name, Image, and Likeness legislation of Intercollegiate Athletics (Doctoral dissertation, University of Oregon).
- □ Van Nuffel, P., 1995. Bosman. *Colum. J. Eur. L.*, *2*, p.345.
- □ Voigt, P. and Von demBussche, A., 2017. The eu general data protection regulation (gdpr). A Practical Guide, 1st Ed., Cham: Springer International Publishing, 10(3152676), pp.10-5555.
- □ Waite, N., 1979. Sponsorship in context.
- □ Wall, A.M., 2006. Intellectual property protection in China: enforcing trademark rights. *Marq. Sports L. Rev.*, *17*, p.341.

- Wallace, J.R., 2011. Discriminatory & Disparaging Team Names, Logos & Mascots: Workable Challenges & the Misapplication of the Doctrine of Laches. *Rutgers Race & L. Rev.*, *12*, p.203.
- □ Watkins, B., 2018. Sport teams, fans, and twitter: The Influence of social media on relationships and branding. Rowman & Littlefield.
- □ Wong, G.M., 1986. Recent Trademark Law Cases Involving Prosessional and Intercollegiate Sports. *Det. CL Rev.*, p.87.
- □ Wu, K., 2016. YouTube marketing: Legality of sponsorship and endorsements in advertising. *JL Bus. & Ethics*, 22, p.59.
- Yadav, J., Yadav, R., Sahore, N. and Mendiratta, A., 2023. Digital social engagements and knowledge sharing among sports fans: Role of interaction, identification, and interface. *Technological Forecasting and Social Change*, 195, p.122792.
- □ Yiyang, W., MARKETING STRATEGIES OF CHINESE ENTERPRISES IN THE MEDIA ENVIRONMENT.
- □ Yu, H., 2023. Pop-up retail strategies in an omnichannel context.
- □ Zhang, J.J., Pitts, B.G. and Kim, E., 2017. Introduction: Sport marketing in a globalized marketplace. In *Contemporary sport marketing* (pp. 3-22). Routledge.
- □ Zheng, P., Xiao, L., Wang, F. and Yang, G., 2018. Comprehensive ban on tobacco advertising, promotion and sponsorship. *Tobacco control in China*, pp.245-284.